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Preface to the fifth edition

Introduction

Preparers and users of financial statements have now become familiar with the impact
of the implementation of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in the
UK from January 2005. Those involved in accounting education have set an aim of
ensuring that our students understand and can apply the approach represented in
IFRS while still being aware that many organisations in the UK will continue to follow
the UK tradition as set out in company law and UK accounting standards. For listed
companies, in their group accounts, IFRS are mandatory. For all other companies the
use of IFRS is a matter of choice with the alternative being to cling to the UK tradition.
For unincorporated businesses the prospect of IFRS-related practice is coming closer
as the UK ASB considers whether to adopt the version of IFRS published for small
and medium-sized entitites from 2012. For the public sector in the UK, IFRS-related
practice has arrived with effect from fiscal year 2009/10.

This book uses the international framework and IFRS as its primary focus. This
enables students in their early stages of study to understand and analyse the pub-
lished annual reports and financial statements of our largest businesses. However, it
also explains the UK tradition, where this differs from the IFRS, so that students will
also understand and appreciate small business accounts where the traditions of UK
GAAP continue to be applied.

The book is written for the first level of undergraduate degree study in accounting
and business studies, or equivalent introductory accounting courses for any profes-
sional training where an understanding of accounting is a basic requirement. Regula-
tion does not stand still and all UK companies now operate under the Companies
Act 2006 which has been phased into practice over the period 2006 to 2009. The
International Accounting Standards Board revised the standard IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements to take effect from 2009. This fifth edition is thoroughly revised
to reflect these regulatory changes. All ‘Real World” case studies at the start of each
chapter have been updated to reflect changing conditions and particularly the note
of caution over financial statements that has emerged from the banking and credit
crisis of 2008-09. The underlying pedagogy of previous editions has been retained in
response to encouraging comments from reviewers and from users of the book.

As institutions come under increasing scrutiny for the quality of the teaching and
learning experience offered, a textbook must do more than present the knowledge and
skills of the chosen subject. It must make explicit to the students what targets are to be
achieved and it must help them to assess realistically their own achievements of those
targets. It must help the class lecturer prepare, deliver, explain and assess the know-
ledge and skills expected for the relevant level of study. This is achieved by stating
learning outcomes at the start of each chapter and by ensuring that the chapter
headings and the end-of-chapter questions address the stated outcomes.

An accompanying website at www.pearsoned.co.uk/weetman provides the
lecturer with a complete resource pack for each chapter. Student handouts containing
a skeleton outline of each chapter, leaving slots for students to complete; overhead-
projector masters that match the lecture handouts, additional multiple-choice questions
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and further graded questions in application of knowledge and in problem solving;
all are features for this fifth edition.

End-of-chapter questions are graded according to the skills being assessed. There
are tests of retained knowledge, tests of application of knowledge in straightforward
situations and tests of problem solving and evaluation using the acquired knowledge
in less familiar situations.

Overall the aim of the fifth edition is to provide an introduction to financial
accounting which engages the interest of students and encourages a desire for further
study. It also contributes to developing the generic skills of application, problem solving,
evaluation and communication, all emphasised by employers.

Subject coverage

Financial reporting is an essential component in the process of communication
between a business and its stakeholders. The importance of communication increases
as organisations become larger and more complex. Reporting financial information
to external stakeholders not involved in the day-to-day management of the business
requires a carefully balanced process of extracting the key features while preserving
the essential core of information. The participants in the communication process cover
a wide range of expertise and educational background, so far as accounting is
concerned. The range begins with those who prepare financial statements, who may
have a special training in accounting techniques, but it ends with those who may
be professional investors, private investors, investment advisers, bankers, employee
representatives, customers, suppliers and journalists.

First-level degree courses in accounting are increasingly addressed to this broad
base of potential interest and this book seeks to provide such a broad base of under-
standing while also supplying a sound technical base for those intending to pursue
specialised study of the subject further. In particular it makes use of the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements which is used by the International
Accounting Standards Board in developing and reviewing accounting standards. That
Framework is intended to help preparers, users and auditors of financial statements to
understand better the general nature and function of information reported in financial
statements.

Aim of the book

The fifth edition has been updated throughout. It aims to provide a full understanding
of the key aspects of the annual report, concentrating in particular on companies in
the private sector but presenting principles of wider application which are relevant
also to organisations operating in the public sector.

In particular

An international perspective reflects the convergence in accounting standards across the
European Union for listed companies. Features specific to the UK are retained where
these continue to be relevant to other enterprises.

Concepts of financial accounting are identified by applying the principles enunciated
by the International Accounting Standards Board in its Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements. The Framework emphasises the desirability of
meeting the needs of users of financial statements and it takes a balance sheet-oriented
approach. That approach is applied consistently throughout the book, with some indi-
cation of the problems which may arise when it is clear that the established emphasis
on the matching of revenues and costs may give a more rational explanation of existing
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practice. The Framework is under review in stages but until that review is complete
it is more consistent for students to continue to refer to the complete version.

User needs are explained in every chapter and illustrated by including first-person
commentary from a professional fund manager, holding a conversation with an audit
manager. The conversations are based on the author’s research in the area of commun-
ication through the annual report.

The accounting equation is used throughout the financial accounting section for
analysis and processing of transactions. It is possible for students who do not seek a
technical specialism to complete the text without any reference to debit and credit
bookkeeping. It is, however, recognised that particular groups of students may wish
to understand the basic aspects of debit and credit bookkeeping and for this purpose
the end-of-chapter supplements revisit, on a debit and credit recording basis, material
already explored in the chapter. Debit and credit aspects of management accounting
are not covered since these are regarded as best reserved for later specialist courses if
the student so chooses.

Practical illustration is achieved by drawing on the financial information of a fictitious
major listed company, taking an overview in early chapters and then developing the
detailed disclosures as more specific matters are explored.

Interpretation of financial statements is a feature of all financial reporting chapters,
formally brought together in Chapters 13 and 14. The importance of the wider range
of corporate communication is reinforced in Chapter 14. This chapter also includes
a discussion of some current developments that are under debate in the context of
international convergence.

A running example of the fictitious company Safe and Sure plc provides illustra-
tion and interpretation throughout the chapters. Safe and Sure plc is in the service
sector. The website contains a parallel example, Craigielaw plc, in the manufacturing
sector. On the website there are questions on Craigielaw to accompany most of the
chapters.

Self-evaluation is encouraged by setting learning outcomes at the start of each
chapter and reviewing these in the chapter summaries. Activity questions are placed
at various stages throughout each chapter. Self-testing questions at the end of the
chapter may be answered by referring again to the text. Further end-of-chapter ques-
tions provide a range of practical applications. Group activities are suggested at the
end of each chapter with the particular aim of encouraging participation and inter-
action. Answers are available to all computational questions, either at the end of the
book or on the website.

A sense of achievement is engendered in the reader of the financial accounting
section by providing a general understanding of the entire annual report by the
end of Chapter 7. Thereafter specific aspects of the annual report are explored in
Chapters 8-12. Lecturers who wish to truncate a first-level course or leave specific
aspects to a later level will find Chapters 8-12 may be used on a selective basis.

A spreadsheet approach to financial accounting transactions is used in the body of
the relevant chapters to show processing of transactions using the accounting equa-
tion. The author is firmly convinced, after years of trying every conceivable approach,
that the spreadsheet encourages students to apply the accounting equation ana-
lytically, rather than trying to memorise T-account entries. Furthermore students
now use spreadsheets as a tool of analysis on a regular basis and will have little diffi-
culty in applying suitable software in preparing spreadsheets. In the bookkeeping
supplementary sections, the three-column ledger account has been adopted in the
knowledge that school teaching is moving increasingly to adopt this approach which
cuts out much of the bewilderment of balancing T-accounts. Computerised account-
ing systems also favour the three-column presentation with continuous updating of
the balance.
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Flexible course design

There was once a time when the academic year comprised three terms and we all
knew the length of a typical course unit over those three terms. Now there are
semesters, trimesters, modules and half-modules so that planning a course of study
becomes an exercise in critical path analysis. This text is written for one academic year
comprising two semesters of 12 weeks each but may need selective guidance to
students for a module of lesser duration.

In financial accounting, Chapters 1-4 provide an essential conceptual framework
which sets the scene. For a general appreciation course, Chapters 5 and 6 are practical
so that one or both could be omitted, leading directly to Chapter 7 as a guide to
published accounts. Chapters 812 are structured so that the explanation of principles
is contained early in each chapter, but the practical implementation is later in each
chapter. For a general appreciation course, it would be particularly important to refer
to the section of each chapter which analyses users’ needs for information and
discusses information provided in the financial statements. However, the practical
sections of these chapters could be omitted or used on a selective basis rather than
attempting full coverage. Chapters 13 and 14 are important to all readers for a sense
of interpretation and awareness of the range of material within corporate reports.
Chapter 15 takes the reader through a cash flow statement item-by-item with the
emphasis on understanding and interpretation.

Approaches to teaching and learning

Learning outcomes

Targets for student achievement in relation to knowledge and understanding of the
subject are specified in learning outcomes at the head of each chapter. The achieve-
ments represented by these learning outcomes are confirmed against graded questions
at the end of each chapter. The achievement of some learning outcomes may be
confirmed by Activities set out at the appropriate stage within the chapter.

Skills outcomes

The end-of-chapter questions test not only subject-specific knowledge and technical
skills but also the broader general skills that are transferable to subsequent employ-
ment or further training.

Graded questions

End-of-chapter questions are graded and each is matched to one or more learning
outcomes. Where a solution is provided to a question this is shown by an [S] after the
question number.

A series questions: test your understanding

The A series questions confirm the application of technical skills. These are skills
specific to the subject of accounting which add to the specialist expertise of the
student. More generally they show the student’s capacity to acquire and apply a
technical skill of this type.

The answers to these questions can be found in relevant sections of the chapter, as
indicated at the end of each question.

B series questions: application

The B series questions apply the knowledge gained from reading and practising the
material of the chapter. They resemble closely in style and content the technical mater-
ial of the chapter. Confidence is gained in applying knowledge in a situation that is
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very similar to that illustrated. Answers are given in Appendix II or on the website.
These questions test skills of problem solving and evaluation that are relevant to
many subjects and many activities in life, especially in subsequent employment. Some
injtiative is required in deciding how to apply relevant knowledge and in solving
problems.

C series questions: problem solving and evaluation

The C series questions apply the knowledge gained from reading the chapter, but in a
varied style of question. Problem solving skills are required in selecting relevant data
or in using knowledge to work out what further effort is needed to solve the problem.
Evaluation means giving an opinion or explanation of the results of the problem-
solving exercise. Some answers are given in Appendix II but others are on the website
so that they can be used in tutorial preparation or class work.

Group and individual cases

Cases apply knowledge gained from the chapter but they also test communication
skills. Communication may involve writing or speaking, or both. It may require, for
example, explanation of a technical matter to a non-technical person, or discussion
with other students to explore a controversial issue, or presentation of a report to a
business audience.

S series questions in supplementary sections

The S series questions test knowledge of the accounting records system (bookkeeping
entries) to confirm understanding by those who have chosen to study the supple-
mentary bookkeeping sections.

Website

A website is available at www.pearsoned.co.uk/weetman by password access to
lecturers adopting this book. It contains additional problem questions for each chapter,
with full solutions to these additional questions as well as any solutions not provided
in the book. The website includes basic tutorial instructions and overhead-projector
masters to support each chapter.

Target readership

This book is targeted at a broad-ranging business studies type of first-level degree
course. It is intended to support the equivalent of one semester of 12 teaching weeks.
There is sufficient basic bookkeeping (ledger accounts) in the end-of-chapter supple-
ments to make the book suitable for those intending to pursue a specialised study of
accounting beyond the first level but the bookkeeping material is optional for those
who do not have such special intentions. The book has been written with under-
graduate students particularly in mind, but may also be suitable for professional and
postgraduate business courses where financial reporting is taught at an introductory
level.
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Guided tour of the book

A systematic approach to financial reporting:
the accounting equation

REAL WORLD CASE

Presenting the accounting equation
Sharsholders' funds as at 21 March 2009
were £4,376 millon (2008: £4,935 milion)
a reduction of £559 millon, primarly as a
result of the deteroration of the pension
Surplus into a deficit, which reduces net
assets by £588 millon. Gearing, which
measures net debt as a percentage of
total equity, increased to 38 per cent
(2008: 30 per cent) as a result of the
pension surplus moving nto defict

‘Summary balance sheet at 21 March 2009

2000 2008
m em
Non-current assets. 8425 8010
Inventories. 689 681
Trade and other receivables 195 206
Cash and cash equivalents 627 719
ebt (2208 (2222)
bt (1.671) (1508
‘Trade and other payables and provisions ©0s0) @825
Net assets 4976 435
Souce, eporp

Discussion points

1 How does the summary statement of financial position (balance sheet) eflect the accounting
equation?

2 How does the group explain the main changes?

Chapter contents
provide a quick and
easy reference to the
following section.

Real world case studies
at the beginning of each
chapter are designed

to exemplify a typical
situation in which
financial or management
accounting can be
helpful.
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= 22 The accounting equation 28
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222 Intemational variation 29

23 Defining assets 20
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232 Past events 30
233 Future economic benefits 30
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25 Recognition of assets 33
25,1 Probabilty that economic benefit will flow. 33
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253 Non-recogition 3

26 Defining liabilties 35
26,1 Present obligation 35
262 Past events 35
263 Outflow of economic benefits 36
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212 Assurance for users of financial statements o
213 Summary. a2
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[ROTCER  Artorstudying this chaptr you shoud be able to:
outcomes ® Define and explain the accounting equation.
oo
® Apply the definition to examples of assets.
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 Explain how users of financial statements can gain assurance about assets and
liabilties.

Additionall, or those who choose to study the supplement:

 Explain how the rules of debit and credit recording are derived from the
accounting equation.

Learning outcomes are bullet points at

the start of each chapter to show what
you can expect to learn from that chapter,
highlighting the core coverage.

Key terms and definitions are emboldened where
they are first introduced, with a definition box to
provide a concise explanation where required.

- 1.1 Introduction

Activity 1.1 Before starting to read ths saction, write dpun one paragraph stating what you think the.
word ‘accounting’ means. Than read this skction and comparo it with your paragraph.
A — butforthe prposs f s
the following wording will be used:
Definition ting s the process of dentifying,

d users of

the information.”

This definition may appear short but it has been widely quoted over a number of
years and is sufficient to specify the entire contents of this introductory textbook.
Taking the definition word by word, it leads to the following questions:

What s the process?
How is financial information identified?

1
2
3 How is financial information measured?
4 How s financial information communicated?
5
6
7

Whatis an entity?
Who are the users of financial information about an entity?
What types of judgements and decisions do these users make?

Writing the questions in this order is slightly dangerous because it starts by
emphasising the process and waits until the final question to ask about the use of
the information. The danger s that accountants may design the process first and then
hope to show that it is suitable to allow judgements and decisions by users. This is
what has often happened over many years ol yping the process by accountants.

In order to learn abou king a eritical approach

stions and start by
idgements and decisions they
s have been identified, the

mmunication may be determined and only then may the technical details of
measurement and identification be dealt with in a satisfactory manner.

Reversing the order of the questions arising from the definition of accounting is the
appraach used in this book, because it s the one which has been taken by those secking
to develop a conceptual framework of accounting,

This chapter outlines the meaning of the words conceptual framework and in

most effective forms

ational use in accounting practice. The chay
cs of business entity and concludes by

Because the understanding of users’ needs is essential throughout the entire text,
the chapter introduces David Wilson, a fund manager working for a large insurance
company. In order to balance the demands of users with the restrictions and con-
Straints on preparers of financial information, the chapter also introduces Leona Rees
swho works as an audit manager with an accountancy firm. Both of them will offer
comments and explanations as you progress through the text

Figures and Tables,
at frequent intervals
throughout most
chapters, provide clear
explanations of key
points and calculations.

Colour coding provides A
a clear and accessible
guide to key aspects of
accounting equations.

Activities appear throughout each chapter to encourage
self-evaluation and help you to think about the application

of the subject in everyday life.

1
Structure of a statement of financial position (balance sheet)

Non-current assets

plus

Current assets

Current liabiities

Non-current liabilties

equals

Capital at start of year

plus/minus

Capital contributed or withdrawn

plus
Profit of the period

Table 3.1 represents a typical format used by public companies. For many years
prior to 2005 it was the format most commonly used by UK companies and continues
to be used by some UK companies that have moved to the LASB system of accounting,
Most companies will try to confine the statement of financial position (balance sheet)
toas A4 paper but th A4 paper to fit
in allthe assets and liabilities o
of notes to the accounts whid
(balance sheet) shows only the ma

ement of financial position
s of assets and liabilities

342 Balancing assets and claims on assets

Another form of the accounting equation focuses on balancing the assets against the
claims on assets. The claims on assets come from the ownership interest and from

liabilites of all types. The equation is:

[ oo e G

UK companies who apply this form of the equation will present the statement of
financial position (balance sheet) vertically on one sheet of paper but the sequence
will be different:

Assets.

equals

Ownership interest

plus

Liabilities




e 3.8
Gomparison of profit and cash flow for the month of September

highlight the material
that has been covered
and can be used as a
quick reminder of the
main issues.

. 3.7 Usefulness of financial statements

and David, still working on Leona’s flat, discussing the usefulness of

LEONA: Which financial statement s the most important for you?

DAVID: 1t has to be the income statement (profit and loss account). Profit creates wealth,
Future profi creates future wealth. | have to make a forecast of each company's profit as

‘adding that cash flow Is also important, especially where there is high uncertainty about
future prospects. We talk about ‘qually of profits’ and regard some types of profi as of

don A

cannot survive f it can't pay its way.

LEONA: Where does that leave the statement of financial position?

DAVID: /'m ot sure. It is a st of resources and claims on those resources. We are share-

holders and so we have a clam on those resources but we don'tthink about it o any great
the.

than closing down and seling the assets. The numbers in the statement of financial posi-

tion don't mean very much because they are ot of date.

/
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o
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=
Computer rental and online searches (1,500) nil
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e o e ek = a3 ummaries at the o : fanenty vt
Net profit of the month 4220 TH
Increase in cash in the month - 5,280 end of each Chaptel’

Guided tour of the book m

Activity 4.5 s
auite
this book as we are,
as e, oy at 4. Make a nofe.

and keep that note safe in  fl. AS you progress through the rest of the book, fook back
the,

to that points
 page full of ticks by the end of the book.
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. as described by the IASB Franex

A conversation between two managers (consultants) Application (Series B) questions are questions that

appears at intervals throughout the text to provide a ask you to

apply the knowledge gained from reading

valuable insight into the type of interpretative comment and practising the material in the chapter, and closely
which you may find more taxing. These conversations resemble the style and content of the technical material.
allow a more candid discussion of issues and problems Answers are given at the end of the book or in the

within the subject. Resources
www.pear

on Capital Mar

the Departm

— Further reading sections

HEED (1] COTIo e
et e T sources of information

m et i mﬁ e e e referred to in the chapter.

you to show skils in are n the ‘C' seres of questions. A el
[5] indicates that thera is a solution at the end of the book.

“ Test your understanding
AT4:1 Whatisth abjectve o the operatingand iancil eview? (Section 14.2.1)
A142 Wy s ther no prscrbe fomat o the OFRY (Secton 14.22)
A143 Wnatar the mainprincipesset by the ASB for the OFR? (Secton 14.22)
A144 Wnat ar th mainloments o e disconursramework ot OFR? (secton 1427 =T T @S T your

A145  Wnat are key performancs indicators (KPIs)? (Section 14.2.4)

AT48 st s o ptcar et of e OF Flon i st s ot understa nding
e (S eries A) ques tions

A148  Wnatis the purpose of a highiights statement? (Section 14.3.1)

e T T e e are short questions to

110 1441)

Av41] ik s et sl (i 441 encourage you to review

A14.12. How are segments identiled? (Secton 14.4.3)

AU13 Wy bl ot e ol ceuriog? Gocin 149 your understanding of the

: e stk bt on e srrt f fwrcd positon (calance sheet)? main to P ics covered in
XD T e A TT A each chapter.

A14.17 Wnatis the Global Reporting Iitative? (Section 14.6.3)

A14.18 Wnat accounting issues arise n relation to carbon trading? (Section 14.6.4)
A14.19. What is meant by corporate goverance? (Section 14.7)
A1420 Wnatis the Combined Code? (Section 14.7.1)

A1421 How 147)

Problem solving and evaluation (Series C) questions require
problem solving skills to select relevant data in order to work out
what further effort is needed to solve the problem. Evaluation
questions ask for your opinion surrounding the results of the
problem solving exercise. Some solutions are found at the end of
the book but others are in the Resources for Tutors section on the
Companion Website at www.pearsoned.co.uk/weetman, for use
in tutorial preparation or class work.

for Tutors on the Companion Website at
soned.co.uk/weetman.

Eﬂ e e e

Ataz2

pos ‘ate
and far view'? (Section 14.8)

A1423 What are the Imitations of historical cost accounting? (Section 14.92)

A14.24 Wny is it desirable 1o remeasure assefs and fabifies subsequent to acquisition?
(Section 14.93)

A1425 Explain what is meant by ety price and exitprice. (Section 14.9.4)
A1426 Explain what is meant by fair value. (Section 14.9.8)

Ataz7 on the needs 14.10)

B Application

B141
Suggest, with reasons, three KP for each of the following types of business, and expiain why
Itis unlikely that two businesses wil chooss identical KPls.

(a) a prvate hospital
(b) a car ropair garage
(¢} a clothing menufecturer

Il Problem solving and evaluation

c1415]
Cany out a trend analysis on Safe and Sure pic, using the historical summary set out in
Appendix 1. Wite a short report on the key features emerging from the trends.

Activities for study groups

Case 14.1
Tum o the annual reportof o
Spit the group roles:ono half of

he rol of the fiance director and the other hlf should take the rle of the broker’s anayst
wriing a repor on the compan

Look through the annual report for any rato calculations performed by the company and

w0 Prepare your own

calculations of ratos for anaysis of al aspects of perormance. Find the curret share price
from a current nowspaper.

Onca the data proparation s complete, the finance drector Subgroup should preparo a

short report to a meating with the analysts. The analysts should then respond with questions:
arsing from the ratio analysis. The finance directors should seek to prasent answers (o the

tored in calculating and interpreting fivancial rafos.
Case 14.2

“Tum to the annual report of a listed company which you have used for actvtes in previous

You are a team of analysts seeking to break down the component segments of the group for

/

Activities for study groups at the end of
most chapters are designed to help you apply
the accounting skills and knowledge you have
acquired from the chapter to the real world.



Publisher’s acknowledgements

We are grateful to the following for permission to reproduce copyright material:

Text

Case Study on page 50 from Marks and Spencer plec Annual report 2009 p.16; Case Study
on page 51 from BAA Annual report 2004/5, p.34; BAA Annual report 2004/5, p.34; Case
Study on page 73 from The Financial Reporting Review Panel Press Notice PN 123,
9 December 2009, http:www.frc.org.uk/frrp/press/pub2189.html; Figure 4.1 from
Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting p.34, 1999 , Accounting Standards Board;
Case Study on page 133 from Debenhams 2009 Annual report, p.19, http: //www.investis.
com/debenhams/pdfs/ar2009_new.pdf; Case Study on pages 160-1 from Home Retail
Group, Annual Report 2009, http. //www.homeretailgroup.com/home/investors; Figure 7.1
from Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting p.34, 1999, Accounting Standards
Board; Case Study on pages 200-1 from Annual Report, 01/01/2009, Halfords Group plc,
http://halfordscompany.com; Case Study on pages 238—9 from Annual report, 01/01/2008,
Cadbury plc, http:www.cadburyinvestors.com; Case Study on page 268 from Annual
report, and Directors’ report p.39, Carphone Warehouse plc; Case Study on pages 287-8
from Annual report 2008 p. 158, BP plc, BP plc Annual Report and Accounts, 2008; Case
Study on page 340 from Annual report and accounts 2009 p.87, Thorntons plc; Case Study
on pages 399-400 from Annual report 2009, Chloride plc, www.chloridepower.com;
Dutch Shell; Case Study on page 688 from Business Wire, 3/09/2009.

Picture Credits

The publisher would like to thank the following for their kind permission to reproduce
their photographs:

Alamy Images: 238, 367, Justin Kase 200, Mark Richardson 4, Superstock 73; Alex Segre:
26,287, 340; Chloride Power: 399; Chris Batson: 268; Getty Images: 50, 104, 133, Bloomberg
309; Roger G Howard Photography: 160

In some instances we have been unable to trace the owners of copyright material, and we
would appreciate any information that would enable us to do so.



FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING







A conceptual framework:
setting the scene

1 Who needs accounting?

2 A systematic approach to financial reporting:
the accounting equation

3 Financial statements from the accounting equation
4 Ensuring the quality of financial statements



Who needs accounting?

REAL WORLD CASE

Meeting users’ needs
Extracts from annual report 2008 (pp. 1 and 26)
Key results (p. 1)

2008 2007
£m £m

Gross sales including VAT Up 15% 10,435 9,075
and travel agency sales

Revenue before premiums Up 13% 9,399 8,289
ceded to reinsurers

Operating profit before Up 11% 393 855
significant items
Operating profit after Up 60% 275 173
significant items
Profit before payments to Up 11% 218 196

and on behalf of members
Payments to and on behalf Up 122% 102 46
of members Members’ funds Up 4% 3,933 3,797

Directors’ responsibilities (extract)

Directors are expected to exercise their judgement when making decisions in the best interests of the
Society as a whole, mindful of their responsibilities to members and other stakeholders. (p. 26)

What is a co-operative? (from the website)

Unlike lots of other businesses, a co-operative doesn’t have tradeable shares like a plc whose

values can fluctuate. A co-operative, however, is owned equally and fairly by its members — people
like you! We’d far rather give our profits back to our members and the community than to faceless
shareholding institutions. You know that twice-yearly payment you get from us? That’s actually a
share of our profits! And the more you spend with us, the more of a profit you get back! How neat is
that? Your dividend is linked to how much profit we make. Not many businesses give back that sort
of money to their customers.

Values in action (from the website)

Our family of businesses has a set of social goals which underpin everything we do, called our
values and principles. We have asked members what is important to them and they have told us.
By exercising their democratic rights, members make sure that we have long standing agreements
with Fairtrade producers, that we do not deal with arms traders, that we can offset the carbon that
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is produced when we fly, and that we do give back to the communities in which we trade. That is
pretty special.

Source: The Cooperative Group, http:/www.co-operative.coop/, December 2009. http:/www.co-operative.coop/
en/corporate/corporatepublications/Annual-Report-and-Accounts/Annual-Report-archive/

Discussion points
1 Who might be included in the stakeholders to whom the directors are responsible?
2 To what extent do the ‘key results’ meet the needs of users of financial statements?

Contents 1.1 Introduction 6
1.2 The development of a conceptual framework 7
1.3 Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements 8
1.4 Types of business entity 9

1.4.1 Sole trader 9
1.4.2 Partnership 9
1.4.3 Limited liability company 10
1.5 Users and their information needs 12
1.5.1 Management 13
1.5.2 Owners as investors 13
1.5.3 Employees 14
1.5.4 Lenders 15
1.5.5 Suppliers and other trade creditors 15
1.5.6 Customers 15
1.5.7 Governments and their agencies 16
1.5.8 Public interest 16
1.6 General purpose or specific purpose financial statements? 17
1.7 Stewards and agents 17
1.8 Who needs financial statements? 18
1.9 Summary 19
Supplement: introduction to the terminology of business transactions 24

Learning After studying this chapter you should be able to:
outcomes o Define, and explain the definition of, accounting.
o Explain what is meant by a conceptual framework.

@ Explain the distinguishing features of a sole trader, a partnership and
a limited company.

e List the main users of financial information and their particular needs.
® Discuss the usefulness of financial statements to the main users.

Additionally, for those who choose to study the supplement:
o Define the basic terminology of business transactions.
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Activity 1.1

Definition

Introduction

Before starting to read this section, write down one paragraph stating what you think the
word ‘accounting’ means. Then read this section and compare it with your paragraph.

There is no single ‘official” definition of accounting, but for the purposes of this text
the following wording will be used:

Accounting is the process of identifying, measuring and communicating financial
information about an entity to permit informed judgements and decisions by users of
the information.’

This definition may appear short but it has been widely quoted over a number of
years and is sufficient to specify the entire contents of this introductory textbook.
Taking the definition word by word, it leads to the following questions:

What is the process?

How is financial information identified?

How is financial information measured?

How is financial information communicated?

What is an entity?

Who are the users of financial information about an entity?
What types of judgements and decisions do these users make?

NS Ul WN -

Writing the questions in this order is slightly dangerous because it starts by
emphasising the process and waits until the final question to ask about the use of
the information. The danger is that accountants may design the process first and then
hope to show that it is suitable to allow judgements and decisions by users. This is
what has often happened over many years of developing the process by accountants.

In order to learn about, and understand, accounting by taking a critical approach
to the usefulness of the current processes and seeing its limitations and the potential
for improvement, it is preferable to reverse the order of the questions and start by
specifying the users of financial information and the judgements and decisions they
make. Once the users and their needs have been identified, the most effective forms
of communication may be determined and only then may the technical details of
measurement and identification be dealt with in a satisfactory manner.

Reversing the order of the questions arising from the definition of accounting is the
approach used in this book, because it is the one which has been taken by those seeking
to develop a conceptual framework of accounting.

This chapter outlines the meaning of the words conceptual framework and in
particular the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements which
has been developed for international use in accounting practice. The chapter explains
the nature of three common types of business entity and concludes by drawing on
various views relating to the users of accounting information and their information
needs.

Because the understanding of users’ needs is essential throughout the entire text,
the chapter introduces David Wilson, a fund manager working for a large insurance
company. In order to balance the demands of users with the restrictions and con-
straints on preparers of financial information, the chapter also introduces Leona Rees
who works as an audit manager with an accountancy firm. Both of them will offer
comments and explanations as you progress through the text.
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Activity 1.2 How does this section compare with your initial notions of what accounting means?
If they are similar, then it is likely that the rest of this book will meet your expectations.
If they are different, then it may be that you are hoping for more than this book can
achieve. If that is the case, this may be a useful point at which to consult your lecturer,
tutor or some other expert in the subject to be sure that you are satisfied that this book
will meet your personal learning outcomes.

I 1.2 The development of a conceptual framework

A conceptual framework for accounting is a statement of principles which provides
generally accepted guidance for the development of new reporting practices and for
challenging and evaluating the existing practices. Conceptual frameworks have been
developed in several countries around the world, with the UK arriving a little late
on the scene. However, arriving late does give the advantage of learning from what
has gone before. It is possible to see a pattern emerging in the various approaches to
developing a conceptual framework.

The conceptual frameworks developed for practical use by the accountancy
profession in various countries all start with the common assumption that financial
statements must be useful. The structure of most conceptual frameworks is along the
following lines:

Who are the users of financial statements?

What are the information needs of users?

What types of financial statements will best satisfy their needs?

What are the characteristics of financial statements which meet these needs?

What are the principles for defining and recognising items in financial statements?
What are the principles for measuring items in financial statements?

The most widely applicable conceptual framework is the Framework for the Prepara-
tion and Presentation of Financial Statements produced by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). This Framework was issued in 1989 and either reflects, or
is reflected in, national conceptual frameworks of the USA, Canada, Australia and
the UK. Since 2006 the Framework has been under review for updating but it seems
unlikely that a revised version will be issued until after some challenging accounting
issues have been addressed. The thinking in all those documents can be traced to two
discussion papers of the 1970s in the UK and the USA. In the UK, The Corporate Report
was a slim but highly influential document setting out the needs of users and how
these might be met. Two years earlier the Trueblood Report® in the USA had taken
a similar approach of identifying the needs of users, although perhaps coming out
more strongly in support of the needs of shareholders and creditors than of other user
groups. In the UK, various documents on the needs of users have been prepared by
individuals invited to help the process* or those who took it on themselves to propose
radical new ideas.’

Since January 2005, all listed companies in member states of the European Union
(EU) have been required by an accounting regulation called the IAS regulation® to
use a system of international financial reporting standards set by the International
Accounting Standards Board. The UK ASB has been influential in the development of
these international reporting standards and, over a period of years, has been moving
UK accounting practice closely into line with the international standards. For unlisted
companies and other organisations not covered by the IAS regulation of the EU, the
UK ASB has a conceptual framework of its own, called the Statement of Principles.” This
document has many similarities to the IASB’s Framework.
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Activity 1.3 Most conceptual frameworks start with the question: Who are the users of financial
statements? Write down a list of the persons or organisations you think would be
interested in making use of financial statements, and their possible reasons for being
interested. Have you included yourself in that list? Keep your list available for comparing
with a later section of this chapter.

1.3 Framework for the preparation and presentation of
financial statements

The IASB’s Framework has seven main sections.

Introduction — purpose of the Framework, users and their information needs.
The objective of financial statements.

Underlying assumptions.

Qualitative characteristics of financial statements.

The elements of financial statements.

Recognition of the elements of financial statements.

Measurement of the elements of financial statements.
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Sections 1 and 2 of the Framework are written at a general level and a reader would
find no difficulty in reviewing these at an early stage of study, to gain a flavour
of what is expected of financial statements. The remaining sections are a mixture of
general principles, which are appropriate to first-level study of the subject, and some
quite specific principles which deal with more advanced problems. Some of those
problems need an understanding of accounting which is beyond a first level of
study. This book will refer to aspects of the various sections of the Framework, as
appropriate, when particular issues are dealt with. You should be aware, however,
that this book concentrates on the basic aspects of the Framework and does not explore
every complexity.

A conceptual framework is particularly important when practices are being
developed for reporting to those who are not part of the day-to-day running of the
business. This is called external reporting or financial accounting and is the focus of
the Financial Accounting half of this book. For those who are managing the business
on a day-to-day basis, special techniques have been developed and are referred to
generally as internal reporting or management accounting. That is the focus of the
management accounting half of this book.

Before continuing with the theme of the conceptual framework, it is useful to
pause and consider the types of business for which accounting information may be
required.

Activity 14 Visit the website of the International Accounting Standards Board at
www.iasb.org and find the link to the IASB Framework. (You may have to
follow the link to ‘standards’ although the Framework is not a formal standard.)
What does the IASB say about the purpose of the Framework? How was it
developed? What are the similarities and differences between the ASB and IASB
in the way each describes its conceptual framework?

Visit the website of the Accounting Standards Board at www.asb.org.uk and find the
link to the Statement of Principles. What does the ASB say about the purpose of the
Statement of Principles? How was it developed?
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I 1.4 Types of business entity

The word entity means ‘something that exists independently’. A business entity is a
business that exists independently of those who own the business. There are three
main categories of business which will be found in all countries, although with differ-
ent titles in different ones. This chapter uses the terminology common to the UK. The
three main categories are: sole trader, partnership and limited liability company. This
list is by no means exhaustive but provides sufficient variety to allow explanation of
the usefulness of most accounting practices and their application.

Activity 1.5 Before reading the next sections, take out a newspaper with business advertisements or a
business telephone directory, or take a walk down your local high street or drive round the
trading estate. Write down the names of five businesses, shops or other organisations. Then
read the sections and attempt to match your list against the information provided in each.

1.4.1 Sole trader

An individual may enter into business alone, either selling goods or providing a ser-
vice. Such a person is described as a sole trader. The business may be started because
the sole trader has a good idea which appears likely to make a profit, and has some
cash to buy the equipment and other resources to start the business. If cash is not avail-
able, the sole trader may borrow from a bank to enable the business to start up.
Although this is the form in which many businesses have started, it is one which is
difficult to expand because the sole trader will find it difficult to arrange additional
finance for expansion. If the business is not successful and the sole trader is unable to
meet obligations to pay money to others, then those persons may ask a court of law to
authorise the sale of the personal possessions, and even the family home, of the sole
trader. Being a sole trader can be a risky matter and the cost of bank borrowing may
be at a relatively unfavourable rate of interest because the bank fears losing its money.

From this description it will be seen that the sole trader’s business is very much
intertwined with the sole trader’s personal life. However, for accounting purposes, the
business is regarded as a separate economic entity, of which the sole trader is the
owner who takes the risk of the bad times and the benefit of the good times. Take as
an example the person who decides to start working as an electrician and advertises
their services in a newspaper. The electrician travels to jobs from home and has no
business premises. Tools are stored in the loft at home and the business records are
in a cupboard in the kitchen. Telephone calls from customers are received on the
domestic phone and there are no clearly defined working hours. The work is inextric-
ably intertwined with family life.

For accounting purposes that person is seen as the owner of a business which
provides electrical services and the business is seen as being separate from the
person’s other interests and private life. The owner may hardly feel any great need for
accounting information because they know the business very closely, but account-
ing information will be needed by other persons or entities, mainly the government
(in the form of HM Revenue and Customs) for tax collecting purposes. It may also be
required by a bank for the purposes of lending money to the business or by another
sole trader who is intending to buy the business when the existing owner retires.

1.4.2 Partnership

One method by which the business of a sole trader may expand is to enter into partner-
ship with one or more people. This may permit a pooling of skills to allow more efficient
working, or may allow one person with ideas to work with another who has the
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1.4.3

money to provide the resources needed to turn the ideas into a profit. There is thus more
potential for being successful. If the business is unsuccessful, then the consequences
are similar to those for the sole trader. Persons to whom money is owed by the business
may ask a court of law to authorise the sale of the personal property of the partners in
order to meet the obligation. Even more seriously, one partner may be required to meet
all the obligations of the partnership if the other partner does not have sufficient personal
property, possessions and cash. This is described in law as joint and several liability
and the risks have to be considered very carefully by those entering into partnership.

Partnership may be established as a matter of fact by two persons starting to work
together with the intention of making a profit and sharing it between them. More often
there is a legal agreement, called a partnership deed, which sets out the rights and
duties of each partner and specifies how they will share the profits. There is also part-
nership law, which governs the basic relationships between partners and which they
may use to resolve their disputes in a court of law if there is no partnership deed, or if
the partnership deed has not covered some aspect of the partnership.

For accounting purposes the partnership is seen as a separate economic entity,
owned by the partners. The owners may have the same intimate knowledge of the
business as does the sole trader and may therefore feel that accounting information
is not very important for them. On the other hand, each partner may wish to be sure
that they are receiving a fair share of the partnership profits. There will also be other
persons requesting accounting information, such as HM Revenue and Customs, banks
who provide finance and individuals who may be invited to join the partnership so
that it can expand even further.

Limited liability company

The main risk attached to either a sole trader or a partnership is that of losing personal
property and possessions, including the family home, if the business fails. That risk
would inhibit many persons from starting or expanding a business. Historically, as the
UK changed from a predominantly agricultural to a predominantly industrial eco-
nomy in the nineteenth century, it became apparent that owners needed the protection
of limited liability. This meant that if the business failed, the owners might lose all the
money they had put into the business but their personal wealth would be safe.

There are two forms of limited liability company. The private limited company has
the word ‘Limited’ (abbreviated to ‘Ltd’) in its title. The public limited company has
the abbreviation ‘plc’ in its title. The private limited company is prohibited by law
from offering its shares to the public, so it is a form of limited liability appropriate
to a family-controlled business. The public limited company is permitted to offer its
shares to the public. In return it has to satisfy more onerous regulations. Where the
shares of a public limited company are bought and sold on a stock exchange, the
public limited company is called a listed company because the shares of the company
are on a list of share prices.

In either type of company, the owners are called shareholders because they share
the ownership and share the profits of the good times and the losses of the bad times
(to the defined limit of liability). Once they have paid in full for their shares, the owners
face no further risk of being asked to contribute to meeting any obligations of the busi-
ness. Hopefully, the business will prosper and the owners may be able to receive a share
of that prosperity in the form of a cash dividend. A cash dividend returns to the owners,
on a regular basis and in the form of cash, a part of the profit created by the business.

If the company is very small, the owners may run the business themselves. If it is
larger, then they may prefer to pay someone else to run the business. In either case, the
persons running the business on a day-to-day basis are called the directors.

Because limited liability is a great privilege for the owners, the company must meet
regulations set out by Parliament in the form of a Companies Act. At present the
relevant law is the Companies Act 2006.
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For accounting purposes the company is an entity with an existence separate from
the owners. In the very smallest companies the owners may not feel a great need for
accounting information, but in medium- or large-sized companies, accounting infor-
mation will be very important for the shareholders as it forms a report on how well
the directors have run the company. As with other forms of business accounting infor-
mation must be supplied to HM Revenue and Customs for tax-collecting purposes.
The list of other users will expand considerably because there will be a greater variety of
sources of finance, the company may be seeking to attract more investors, employees
will be concerned about the well-being of the business and even the customers and
suppliers may want to know more about the financial strength of the company.

Although the law provides the protection of limited liability, this has little practical
meaning for many small family-controlled companies because a bank lending money
to the business will ask for personal guarantees from the shareholder directors. Those
personal guarantees could involve a mortgage over the family home, or an interest in
life assurance policies. The potential consequences of such personal guarantees, when
a company fails, are such that the owners may suffer as much as the sole trader whose
business fails.

Table 1.1 summarises the differences between a partnership and a limited liability

company that are relevant for accounting purposes.

Table 1.1

Differences between a partnership and a limited liability company

Partnership

Limited liability company

Formation

Formed by two or more
persons, usually with written
agreement but not
necessarily in writing.

Formed by a number of persons
registering the company under the
Companies Act, following legal
formalities. In particular there must
be a written memorandum and
articles of association setting out
the powers allowed to the company.

Running the

All partners are entitled to

Shareholders must appoint

business share in the running of the directors to run the business
business. (although shareholders may appoint
themselves as directors).
Accounting Partnerships are not obliged Companies must make accounting
information to make accounting information available to the public
information available to the through the Registrar of
wider public. Companies.
Meeting All members of a general The personal liability of the owners
obligations partnership are jointly and is limited to the amount they have
severally liable for money agreed to pay for shares.
owed by the firm.
Powers to Partnerships may carry out The company may only carry out the
carry out any legal business activities activities set out in its memorandum
activities agreed by the partners. and articles of association.

Status in law

The partnership is not a
separate legal entity (under
English law), the partnership
property being owned by the
partners. (Under Scots law
the partnership is a separate
legal entity.)

The company is seen in law as a
separate person, distinct from its
members. This means that the
company can own property, make
contracts and take legal action or
be the subject of legal action.
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Table 1.2 identifies the differences between the public limited company and the
private limited company that are relevant for accounting purposes.

Table 1.2
Brief comparison of private and public companies
Public company Private company
Running the | Minimum of two directors. Minimum of one director.
business i
Must have a company secretary The sole director may also act
who holds a relevant qualification | as the company secretary and
(responsible for ensuring the is not required to have a formal
company complies with the qualification.
requirements of company law).
Ownership Shares may be offered to the Shares must not be offered to
public, inviting subscription. the public. May only be sold by
private arrangements.
Minimum share capital £50,000. No minimum share capital.
Accounting Extensive information required Less need for disclosure of
information on transactions between directors | transactions between directors
and the company. and the company.

Information must be made public through the Registrar of Companies.

Provision of financial information to the public is determined by size
of company, more information being required of medium- and large-
sized companies.

Accounting information must be sent to all shareholders.

Activity 1.6 Look at the list of five organisations which you prepared before reading this section.

Did the list match what you have just read? If not, there are several possible explanations.
One is that you have written down organisations which are not covered by this book.

That would apply if you have written down ‘museum’, ‘town hall’ or ‘college’. These are
examples of public sector bodies that require specialised financial statements not covered
by this text. Another is that you did not discover the name of the business enterprise.
Perhaps you wrote down ‘Northern Hotel’ but did not find the name of the company
owning the hotel. If your list does not match the section, ask for help from your lecturer,
tutor or other expert in the subject so that you are satisfied that this book will continue to
meet your personal learning outcomes.

I 1.5 Users and their information needs

Who are the users of the information provided by these reporting entities? This sec-
tion shows that there is one group, namely the management of an organisation, whose
information needs are so specialised that a separate type of accounting has evolved
called management accounting. However, there are other groups, each of which may
believe it has a reasonable right to obtain information about an organisation, that do
not enjoy unrestricted access to the business and so have to rely on management to
supply suitable information. These groups include the owners, where the owners are
not also the managers, but extend further to employees, lenders, suppliers, customers,
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government and its branches and the public interest. Those in the wider interest
groups are sometimes referred to as stakeholders.

Definition  Stakeholder A general term to indicate all those who might have a legitimate interest in
receiving financial information about a business because they have a ‘stake’ in it.

1.5.1 Management

Many would argue that the foremost users of accounting information about an organ-
isation must be those who manage the business on a day-to-day basis. This group is
referred to in broad terms as management, which is a collective term for all those
persons who have responsibilities for making judgements and decisions within an
organisation. Because they have close involvement with the business, they have access
to a wide range of information (much of which may be confidential within the organ-
isation) and will seek those aspects of the information which are most relevant to their
particular judgements and decisions. Because this group of users is so broad, and
because of the vast amount of information potentially available, a specialist branch
of accounting has developed, called management accounting, to serve the particular
needs of management.

It is management’s responsibility to employ the resources of the business in an
efficient way and to meet the objectives of the business. The information needed by
management to carry out this responsibility ought to be of high quality and in an
understandable form so far as the management is concerned. If that is the case, it
would not be unreasonable to think that a similar quality (although not necessarily
quantity) of information should be made available more widely to those stakeholders
who do not have the access available to management.® Such an idea would be regarded
as somewhat revolutionary in nature by some of those who manage companies, but
more and more are beginning to realise that sharing information with investors and
other stakeholders adds to the general atmosphere of confidence in the enterprise.

1.5.2 Owners as investors

Where the owners are the managers, as is the case for a sole trader or a partnership,
they have no problem in gaining access to information and will select information
appropriate to their own needs. They may be asked to provide information for other
users, such as HM Revenue and Customs or a bank which has been approached to
provide finance, but that information will be designed to meet the needs of those
particular users rather than the owners.

Where the ownership is separate from the management of the business, as is the
case with a limited liability company, the owners are more appropriately viewed as
investors who entrust their money to the company and expect something in return,
usually a dividend and a growth in the value of their investment as the company pros-
pers. Providing money to fund a business is a risky act and investors are concerned
with the risk inherent in, and return provided by, their investments. They need
information to help them decide whether they should buy, hold or sell.’” They are also
interested in information on the entity’s financial performance and financial position
that helps them to assess both its cash-generation abilities and the stewardship of
management.'’

Much of the investment in shares through the Stock Exchange in the UK is carried
out by institutional investors, such as pension funds, insurance companies, unit trusts
and investment trusts. The day-to-day business of buying and selling shares is carried
out by a fund manager employed by the institutional investor. Private investors are in
the minority as a group of investors in the UK. They will often take the advice of an
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1.5.3

equities analyst who investigates and reports on share investment. The fund man-
agers and the equities analysts are also regarded as users of accounting information.

The kinds of judgements and decisions made by investors could include any or all
of the following;:

(a) Evaluating the performance of the entity.

(b) Assessing the effectiveness of the entity in achieving objectives (including com-
pliance with stewardship obligations) established previously by its management,
its members or owners.

(¢) Evaluating managerial performance, efficiency and objectives, including invest-
ment and dividend distribution plans.

(d) Ascertaining the experience and background of company directors and officials
including details of other directorships or official positions held.

(e) Ascertaining the economic stability and vulnerability of the reporting entity.

(f) Assessing the liquidity of the entity, its present or future requirements for addi-
tional working capital, and its ability to raise long-term and short-term finance.

(g) Assessing the capacity of the entity to make future reallocations of its resources for
economic purposes.

(h) Estimating the future prospects of the entity, including its capacity to pay divi-
dends, and predicting future levels of investment.

(i) Making economic comparisons, either for the given entity over a period of time or
with other entities at one point in time.

(j) Estimating the value of present or prospective interests in or claims on the entity.

(k) Ascertaining the ownership and control of the entity."

That list was prepared in 1975 and, while it is a valid representation of the needs
of investors, carries an undertone which implies that the investors have to do quite
a lot of the work themselves in making estimates of the prospects of the entity.
Today there is a stronger view that the management of a business should share more
of its thinking and planning with the investors. The list may therefore be expanded by
suggesting that it would be helpful for investors (and all external users) to know:

(a) the entity’s actual performance for the most recent accounting period and how
this compares with its previous plan for that period;

(b) management’s explanations of any significant variances between the two; and

(¢) management’s financial plan for the current and forward accounting periods, and
explanations of the major assumptions used in preparing it."”

If you look through some annual reports of major listed companies you will see that
this is more a ‘wish list’ than a statement of current practice, but it is indicative of the
need for a more progressive approach. In the annual reports of large companies you
will find a section called the Operating and financial review (or similar title). This is
where the more progressive companies will include forward-looking statements
which stop short of making a forecast but give help in understanding which of the
trends observed in the past are likely to continue into the future.

Employees

Employees and their representatives are interested in information about the stability
and profitability of their employers. They are also interested in information that
helps them to assess the ability of the entity to provide remuneration, retirement
benefits and employment opportunities.”” Employees continue to be interested in
their employer after they have retired from work because in many cases the employer
provides a pension fund.

The matters which are likely to be of interest to past, present and prospective em-
ployees include: the ability of the employer to meet wage agreements; management’s
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intentions regarding employment levels, locations and working conditions; the pay,
conditions and terms of employment of various groups of employees; job security;
and the contribution made by employees in other divisions of the organisation. Much
of this is quite specialised and detailed information. It may be preferable to supply
this to employees by means of special purpose reports on a frequent basis rather than
waiting for the annual report, which is slow to arrive and more general in nature.
However, employees may look to financial statements to confirm information
provided previously in other forms.

1.5.4 Lenders

Lenders are interested in information that enables them to determine whether their
loans, and the related interest, will be paid when due."

Loan creditors provide finance on a longer-term basis. They will wish to assess the
economic stability and vulnerability of the borrower. They are particularly concerned
with the risk of default and its consequences. They may impose conditions (called
loan covenants) which require the business to keep its overall borrowing within
acceptable limits. The financial statements may provide evidence that the loan covenant
conditions are being met.

Some lenders will ask for special reports as well as the general financial statements.
Banks in particular will ask for cash flow projections showing how the business plans
to repay, with interest, the money borrowed.

1.5.5 Suppliers and other trade creditors

Suppliers of goods and services (also called trade creditors) are interested in infor-
mation that enables them to decide whether to sell to the entity and to determine whether
amounts owing to them will be paid when due. Suppliers (trade creditors) are likely
to be interested in an entity over a shorter period than lenders unless they are depend-
ent upon the continuation of the entity as a major customer.'® The amount due to be
paid to the supplier is called a trade payable or an account payable.

Trade creditors supply goods and services to an entity and have very little protection
if the entity fails because there are insufficient assets to meet all liabilities. They are
usually classed as unsecured creditors, which means they are a long way down the
queue for payment. So they have to exercise caution in finding out whether the busi-
ness is able to pay and how much risk of non-payment exists. This information need
not necessarily come from accounting statements; it could be obtained by reading the
local press and trade journals, joining the Chamber of Trade, and generally listening
in to the stories and gossip circulating in the geographic area or the industry. However,
the financial statements of an entity may confirm the stories gained from other sources.

In recent years there has been a move for companies to work more closely with their
suppliers and to establish ‘partnership’ arrangements where the operational and
financial plans of both may be dovetailed by specifying the amount and the timing of
goods and services required. Such arrangements depend heavily on confidence, which
in turn may be derived partly from the strength of financial statements.

1.5.6 Customers

Customers have an interest in information about the continuance of an entity, especi-
ally when they have a long-term involvement with, or are dependent upon, its pros-
perity.' In particular, customers need information concerning the current and future
supply of goods and services offered, price and other product details, and conditions
of sale. Much of this information may be obtained from sales literature or from sales
staff of the enterprise, or from trade and consumer journals."”
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1.5.7

1.5.8

Activity 1.7

The financial statements provide useful confirmation of the reliability of the enter-
prise itself as a continuing source of supply, especially when the customer is making
payments in advance. They also confirm the capacity of the entity in terms of non-
current assets (also called fixed assets) and working capital and give some indication
of the strength of the entity to meet any obligations under guarantees or warranties."®

Governments and their agencies

Governments and their agencies are interested in the allocation of resources and,
therefore, in the activities of entities. They also require information in order to regu-
late the activities of entities, assess taxation and provide a basis for national income
and economic statistics."

Acting on behalf of the UK government’s Treasury Department, HM Revenue and
Customs collects taxes from businesses based on profit calculated according to com-
mercial accounting practices (although there are some specific rules in the taxation
legislation which modify the normal accounting practices). HM Revenue and Customs
has the power to demand more information than appears in published financial state-
ments, but will take these as a starting point.

Other agencies include the regulators of the various utility companies. Examples
are Ofcom® (the Office of Communications) and Ofgem®' (the Office of Gas and Elec-
tricity Markets). They use accounting information as part of the package by which
they monitor the prices charged by these organisations to consumers of their services.
They also demand additional information designed especially to meet their needs.

Public interest

Enterprises affect members of the public in a variety of ways. For example, enterprises
may make a substantial contribution to the local economy by providing employment
and using local suppliers. Financial statements may assist the public by providing
information about the trends and recent developments in the prosperity of the entity
and the range of its activities.”

A strong element of public interest has been aroused in recent years by environ-
mental issues and the impact of companies on the environment. There are costs
imposed on others when a company pollutes a river or discharges harmful gases into
the air. It may be perceived that a company is cutting corners to prune its own
reported costs at the expense of other people. Furthermore, there are activities of
companies today which will impose costs in the future. Where an oil company has
installed a drilling rig in the North Sea, it will be expected one day to remove and
destroy the rig safely. There is a question as to whether the company will be able
to meet that cost. These costs and future liabilities may be difficult to identify and
quantify, but that does not mean that companies should not attempt to do so. More
companies are now including descriptions of environmental policy in their annual
reports, but regular accounting procedures for including environmental costs and
obligations in the financial statements have not yet been developed.

Look back to the list of users of financial statements which you prepared earlier in this
chapter. How closely does your list compare with the users described in this section?
Did you have any in your list which are not included here? Have you used names which
differ from those used in the chapter? Are there users in the chapter which are not in
your list? If your list does not match the section, ask for help from your lecturer, tutor or
other expert in the subject so that you are satisfied that this book will continue to meet
your personal learning outcomes.
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1.6 General purpose or specific purpose financial
statements?

Some experts who have analysed the needs of users in the manner set out in the
previous section have come to the conclusion that no single set of general purpose
financial statements could meet all these needs. It has been explained in the previous
section that some users already turn to special reports to meet specific needs. Other
experts hold that there could be a form of general purpose financial statements which
would meet all the needs of some user groups and some of the needs of others.

This book is written on the assumption that it is possible to prepare a set of general
purpose financial statements which will have some interest for all users. The existence
of such reports is particularly important for those who cannot prescribe the infor-
mation they would like to receive from an organisation. That is perhaps because they
have no bargaining power, or because they are many in number but not significant in
economic influence.

Preparers of general purpose financial statements tend to regard the owners and
long-term lenders as the primary users of the information provided. There is an expec-
tation or hope that the interests of these groups will overlap to some extent with the
interests of a wider user group and that any improvements in financial statements will
be sufficient that fewer needs will be left unmet.”

The primary focus of the Framework is on general purpose financial statements.* It
takes the view that many users have to rely on the financial statements as their major
source of financial information. Financial statements should be prepared with their
needs in mind. The Framework assumes that if financial statements meet the needs of
investors, they will also meet the needs of most other users.”

' 1.7 Stewards and agents

In an earlier section, the needs of investors as users were listed and the word ‘steward-
ship” appeared. In the days before an industrial society existed, stewards were the
people who looked after the manor house and lands while the lord of the manor
enjoyed the profits earned. Traditionally, accounting has been regarded as having a
particular role to play in confirming that those who manage a business on behalf of the
owner take good care of the resources entrusted to them and earn a satisfactory profit
for the owner by using those resources.

As the idea of a wider range of users emerged, this idea of the ‘stewardship” objec-
tive of accounting was mentioned less often (although its influence remains strong
in legislation governing accounting practice). In the academic literature it has been
reborn under a new heading — that of agency. Theories have been developed about
the relationship between the owner, as ‘principal’, and the manager, as ‘agent’. A con-
scientious manager, acting as an agent, will carry out their duties in the best interest
of the owners, and is required by the law of agency to do so. However, not all agents
will be perfect in carrying out this role and some principals will not trust the agent
entirely. The principal will incur costs in monitoring (enquiring into) the activities of
the agent and may lose some wealth if the interests of the agent and the interests of
the principal diverge. The view taken in agency theory is that there is an inherent
conflict between the two parties and so they spend time agreeing contracts which
will minimise that conflict. The contracts will include arrangements for the agent to
supply information on a regular basis to the principal.

While the study of agency theory in all its aspects could occupy a book in itself, the
idea of conflicts and the need for compromise in dealing with pressures of demand for,
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and supply of, accounting information may be helpful in later chapters in under-
standing why it takes so long to find answers to some accounting issues.

Who needs financial statements?

In order to keep the flavour of debate on accounting issues running through this
text, two people will give their comments from time to time. The first of these is
David Wilson, a fund manager of seven years” experience working for an insurance
company. He manages a UK equity portfolio (a collection of company shares) and part
of his work requires him to be an equities analyst. At university he took a degree in
history and has subsequently passed examinations to qualify as a chartered financial
analyst (CFA).*

The second is Leona Rees, an audit manager with a major accountancy firm. She has
five years’ experience as a qualified accountant and had previously spent three years
in training with the same firm. Her university degree is in accounting and economics
and she has passed the examinations to qualify for membership of one of the major
accountancy bodies.

David and Leona had been at school together but then went to different univer-
sities. More recently they have met again at workout sessions at a health club, relaxing
afterwards at a nearby bar. David is very enthusiastic about his work, which demands
long hours and a flexible attitude. He has absorbed a little of the general scepticism
of audit which is expressed by some of his fund manager colleagues.

Leona’s main role at present is in company audit and she is now sufficiently experi-
enced to be working on the audit of one listed company as well as several private
companies of varying size. For two years she worked in the corporate recovery depart-
ment of the accountancy firm, preparing information to help companies find sources
of finance to overcome difficult times. She feels that a great deal of accounting work is
carried out behind the scenes and the careful procedures are not always appreciated
by those who concentrate only on the relatively few well-publicised problems.

We join them in the bar at the end of a hectic working week.

DAVID: This week I've made three visits to companies, attended four presentations of
preliminary announcements of results, received copies of the projector slides used for five
others that | couldn’t attend, and collected around 20 annual reports. | have a small mound
of brokers’ reports, all of which say much the same thing but in different ways. I've had to
read all those while preparing my monthly report to the head of Equities Section on the
performance of my fund and setting out my strategy for three months ahead consistent
with in-house policy. | think I’'m suffering from information overload and | have reservations
about the reliability of any single item of information | receive about a company.

LEONA: If | had to give scores for reliability to the information crossing your desk, | would
give top marks to the 20 annual reports. They have been through a very rigorous process
and they have been audited by reputable audit firms using established standards of
auditing practice.

DAVID: That’s all very well, but it takes so long for annual reports to arrive after the financial
year-end that they don’t contain any new information. | need to get information at the first
available opportunity if I’'m to keep up the value of the share portfolio | manage. The meet-
ings that present the preliminary announcements are held less than two months after the
accounting year-end. It can take another six weeks before the printed annual report appears.
If I don’t manage to get to the meeting | take a careful look at what the company sends me
in the way of copies of projector slides used.
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LEONA: Where does accounting information fit in with the picture you want of a company?

DAVID: [t has some importance, but accounting information is backward-looking and
I'invest in the future. We visit every company in the portfolio once a year and I’m looking
for a confident management team, a cheerful-looking workforce and a general feeling that
things are moving ahead. I'll also ask questions about prospects: how is the order book;
which overseas markets are expanding; have prices been increased to match the increase
in raw materials?

LEONA: Isn’t that close to gaining insider information?

DAVID: No - | see it as clarification of information which is already published. Companies
are very careful not to give an advantage to one investor over another — they would be in
trouble with the Stock Exchange and perhaps with the Financial Services Authority if they
did give price-sensitive information. There are times of the year (running up to the year-end
and to the half-yearly results) when they declare a ‘close season’ and won’t even speak to
an investor.

LEONA: So are you telling me that | spend vast amounts of time auditing financial state-
ments which no one bothers to read?

DAVID: Some people would say that, but | wouldn't. It’s fairly clear that share prices are
unmoved by the issue of the annual report, probably because investors already have that
information from the preliminary announcement. Nevertheless, we like to know that there
is a regulated document behind the information we receive — it allows us to check that
we’re not being led astray. Also | find the annual report very useful when | want to find out
about a company | don’t know. For the companies | understand well, the annual report tells
me little that | don’t already know.

LEONA: /'ll take that as a very small vote of confidence for now. If your offer to help me
redecorate the flat still stands, | might try to persuade you over a few cans of emulsion that
you rely on audited accounts more than you realise.

ACtiVity 1.8 As a final activity for this chapter, go back to the start of the chapter and make a note
of every word you have encountered for the first time. Look at the glossary at the end of
the book for the definition of each technical word. If the word is not in the glossary it is
probably in sufficiently general use to be found in a standard dictionary.

I 1.9 Summary

This chapter has explained that accounting is intended to provide information that is
useful to a wide range of interested parties (stakeholders).
Key points are:

@ Accounting is the process of identifying, measuring and communicating financial
information about an entity to permit informed judgements and decisions by users
of the information.

e A conceptual framework for accounting is a statement of principles which provides
generally accepted guidance for the development of new reporting practices and
for challenging and evaluating the existing practices.

® The Framework of the IASB provides broad principles that guide accounting practice
in many countries.
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® The Statement of Principles of the UK ASB has many similarities to the IASB’s
Framework.

e Since January 2005, all listed companies in member states of the EU have been
required by an accounting regulation to use a system of international financial
reporting standards (IFRS) set by the IASB.

@ Business entities in the UK are either sole traders, partnerships or limited liability
companies.

e Users of accounting information include management, owners, employees, lenders,
suppliers, customers, governments and their agencies and the public interest.

e Stakeholders are all those who might have a legitimate interest in receiving finan-
cial information about a business because they have a ‘stake’ in it.

e General purpose financial statements aim to meet the needs of a wide range of users.

® The relationship between the owner, as ‘principal’, and the manager, as ‘agent’ is
described in the theory of agency relationships. Accounting information helps to
reduce the potential conflicts of interest between principal and agent.
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QUESTIONS

The Questions section of each chapter has three types of question. ‘Test your understanding’
questions to help you review your reading are in the ‘A’ series of questions. You will find the
answers to these by reading and thinking about the material in the book. ‘Application’ questions
to test your ability to apply technical skills are in the ‘B’ series of questions. Questions requiring
you to show skills in problem solving and evaluation are in the ‘C’ series of questions. A letter
[S] indicates that there is a solution at the end of the book.

“ Test your understanding

A1.1 Define ‘accounting’ and identify the separate questions raised by the definition. (Sec-
tion 1.1)

A1.2 The following technical terms appear for the first time in this chapter. Check that you
know the meaning of each. (If you can’t find them again in the text, there is a glossary
at the end of the book.)
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agency general purpose financial statements
annual report HM Revenue and Customs

broker limited liability company

business entity liquidity

capital loan covenants

cash flow projections management accounting

conceptual framework partnership

directors portfolio of shares

entity Registrar of Companies

equities analyst

external reporting

financial accounting
financial information
financial reporting standards
financial statements

fund manager

n Application

B1.1

Brian and Jane are planning to work in partnership as software consultants. Write a note
(100-200 words) to explain their responsibilities for running the business and producing
accounting information about the financial position and performance of the business.

share capital

shareholders

sole trader

specific purpose financial statements
stakeholders

stewardship

unsecured creditors

B1.2

Jennifer has inherited some shares in a public company which has a share listing on the Stock
Exchange. She has asked you to explain how she can find out more about the financial position
and performance of the company. Write a note (100-200 words) answering her question.

B1.3

Martin is planning to buy shares in the company that employs him. He knows that the directors
of the company are his employers but he wonders what relationship exists between the directors
and the shareholders of the company. Write a note (100-200 words) answering his question.

Problem solving and evaluation

C1.1

The following extracts are typical of the annual reports of large listed companies. Which of these
extracts satisfy the definition of ‘accounting’? What are the user needs that are most closely
met by each extract?

(@) Suggestions for improvements were made by many employees, alone or in teams. Annual
savings which have been achieved total £15m. The best suggestion for improvement will
save around £0.3m per year for the next five years.

(b) As of 31 December, 3,000 young people were learning a trade or profession with the
company. This represents a studentship rate of 3.9%. During the reporting period we hired
1,300 young people into training places. This is more than we need to satisfy our employ-
ment needs in the longer term and so we are contributing to improvement of the quality of
labour supplied to the market generally.

(c) During the year to 31 December our turnover (sales) grew to £4,000 million compared to
£2,800 million last year. Our new subsidiary contributed £1,000 million to this increase.

(d) It is our target to pay our suppliers within 30 days. During the year we achieved an average
payment period of 33 days.

(e) The treasury focus during the year was on further refinancing of the group’s borrowings to
minimise interest payments and reduce risk.
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(f) Our plants have emission rates that are 70% below the national average for sulphur dioxide
and 20% below the average for oxides of nitrogen. We will tighten emissions significantly
over the next ten years.

Ci1.2

Explain how you would class each of the following — as a sole trader, partnership or limited
company. List any further questions you might ask for clarification about the nature of the
business.

(@ Miss Jones works as an interior decorating adviser under the business name ‘U-decide’.
She rents an office and employs an administrative assistant to answer the phone, keep files
and make appointments.

(b) George and Jim work together as painters and decorators under the business name
‘Painting Partners Ltd’. They started the business ten years ago and work from a rented
business unit on a trading estate.

(c) Jenny and Chris own a hotel jointly. They operate under the business name ‘Antler Hotel
Company’ and both participate in the running of the business. They have agreed to share
profits equally.

Activities for study groups (4 or 5 per group)

Obtain the annual report of a listed company. Each member of the group should choose a dif-
ferent company. Most large companies will provide a copy of the annual report at no charge in
response to a polite request — or you may know someone who is a shareholder and receives
a copy automatically. Many companies have websites with a section for ‘Investor Relations’
where you will find a document file containing the annual report.

1 Look at the contents page. What information does the company provide?

2 Find the financial highlights page. What are the items of accounting information which the
company wants you to note? Which users might be interested in this highlighted information,
and why?

Is there any information in the annual report which would be of interest to employees?
Is there any information in the annual report which would be of interest to customers?

Is there any information in the annual report which would be of interest to suppliers?

o a W

Find the auditors’ report. To whom is it addressed? What does that tell you about the
intended readership of the annual report?

7 Note the pages to which the auditors’ report refers. These are the pages which are regulated
by company law, accounting standards and Stock Exchange rules. Compare these pages with
the other pages (those which are not regulated). Which do you find more interesting? Why?

8 Each member of the group should now make a five-minute presentation evaluating the
usefulness of the annual report examined. When the presentations are complete the group
should decide on five criteria for judging the reports and produce a score for each. Does the
final score match the initial impressions of the person reviewing it?

9 Finally, as a group, write a short note of guidance on what makes an annual report useful to
the reader.
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Supplement to Chapter 1

Introduction to the terminology of
business transactions

The following description explains the business terminology which will be encountered fre-
quently in describing transactions in this textbook. The relevant words are highlighted in bold
lettering. These technical accounting terms are explained in the Financial accounting terms
defined section at the end of the book.

Most businesses are established with the intention of earning a profit. Some do so by
selling goods at a price greater than that paid to buy or manufacture the goods. Others
make a profit by providing a service and charging a price greater than the cost to them
of providing the service. By selling the goods or services the business is said to earn
sales revenue.

Profit arising from transactions relating to the operation of the business is measured
by deducting from sales revenue the expenses of earning that revenue.

Revenue from sales (often abbreviated to ‘sales” and sometimes referred to as ‘turn-
over’) means the value of all goods or services provided to customers, whether for
cash or for credit. In a cash sale the customer pays immediately on receipt of goods or
services. In a credit sale the customer takes the goods or service and agrees to pay at a
future date. By agreeing to pay in the future the customer becomes a debtor of the
business. The amount due to be collected from the debtor is called a trade receivable
or an account receivable. The business will send a document called a sales invoice to
the credit customer, stating the goods or services provided by the business, the price
charged for these and the amount owing to the business.

Eventually the credit customer will pay cash to settle the amount shown on the
invoice. If they pay promptly the business may allow a deduction of discount for prompt
payment. This deduction is called discount allowed by the business. As an example, if
the customer owes £100 but is allowed a 5% discount by the business, he will pay £95.
The business will record cash received of £95 and discount allowed of £5.

The business itself must buy goods in order to manufacture a product or provide a
service. When the business buys goods it purchases them and holds them as an inven-
tory of goods (also described as a ‘stock” of goods) until they are used or sold. The goods
will be purchased from a supplier, either for cash or for credit. In a credit purchase
the business takes the goods and agrees to pay at a future date. By allowing the busi-
ness time to pay, the supplier becomes a creditor of the business. The name creditor
is given to anyone who is owed money by the business. The business will receive a
purchase invoice from the supplier describing the goods supplied, stating the price
of the goods and showing the amount owed by the business.

Eventually the business will pay cash to settle the amount shown on the purchase
invoice. If the business pays promptly the supplier may permit the business to deduct
a discount for prompt payment. This is called discount received by the business. As an
example, if the business owes an amount of £200 as a trade payable but is permitted
a 10% discount by the supplier, the business will pay £180 and record the remaining
£20 as discount received from the supplier.

The purchase price of goods sold is one of the expenses of the business, to be
deducted from sales revenue in calculating profit. Other expenses might include wages,
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salaries, rent, rates, insurance and cleaning. In each case there will be a document
providing evidence of the expense, such as a wages or salaries slip, a landlord’s bill for
rent, a local authority’s demand for rates, an insurance renewal note or a cleaner’s time
sheet. There will also be a record of the cash paid in each case.

Sometimes an expense is incurred but is not paid for until some time later. For
example, electricity is consumed during a quarter but the electricity bill does not
arrive until after the end of the quarter. An employee may have worked for a week
but not yet have received a cash payment for that work. The unpaid expense of the
business is called an accrued expense and must be recorded as part of the accounting
information relevant to the period of time in which the expense was incurred.

On other occasions an expense may be paid for in advance of being used by the
business. For example, a fire insurance premium covering the business premises is
paid annually in advance. Such expenditure of cash will benefit a future time period
and must be excluded from any profit calculation until that time. In the meantime it is
recorded as a prepaid expense or a prepayment.

Dissatisfaction may be expressed by a customer with the quantity or quality of
goods or service provided. If the business accepts that the complaint is justified it may
replace goods or give a cash refund. If the customer is a credit customer who has not
yet paid, then a cash refund is clearly inappropriate. Instead the customer would be
sent a credit note for sales returned, cancelling the customer’s debt to the business for
the amount in dispute. The credit note would record the quantity of goods or type of
service and the amount of the cancelled debt.

In a similar way the business would expect to receive a credit note from a supplier
for purchases returned where goods have been bought on credit terms and later
returned to the supplier because of some defect.

E Test your understanding

S1.1  The following technical terms appear in this supplement. Check that you know the
meaning of each.

Trade receivable
Discount allowed
Purchases
Credit purchase

Prepaid expense
Credit note for sales returned
Credit note for purchases returned

Profit ® Creditor
Sales revenue ® Trade payable
Cash sale ® Discount received
Credit sale ® Expense
Debtor ® Accrued expense
)
)
)



A systematic approach to financial reporting:
the accounting equation

REAL WORLD CASE

Presenting the accounting equation

Shareholders’ funds as at 21 March 2009
were £4,376 million (2008: £4,935 million),
a reduction of £559 million, primarily as a
result of the deterioration of the pension
surplus into a deficit, which reduces net
assets by £588 million. Gearing, which
measures net debt as a percentage of
total equity, increased to 38 per cent
(2008: 30 per cent) as a result of the
pension surplus moving into deficit.

Summary balance sheet at 21 March 2009

2009 2008

£m £m

Non-current assets 8,425 8,010
Inventories 689 681
Trade and other receivables 195 206
Cash and cash equivalents 627 719

Debt (2,298) (2,222)

Net debt (1,671) (1,503)

Trade and other payables and provisions (3,040) (2,825)
Net assets 4,376 4,935

Source: J Sainsbury plc Annual report 2009, page 20. http:/www.j-sainsbury.co.uk/files/reports/ar2009_report.pdf

Discussion points

1 How does the summary statement of financial position (balance sheet) reflect the accounting
equation?

2 How does the group explain the main changes?
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Learning After studying this chapter you should be able to:

outcomes

e Define and explain the accounting equation.

® Define assets.

® Apply the definition to examples of assets.

@ Explain and apply the rules for recognition of assets.
o Define liabilities.

o Apply the definition to examples of liabilities.

@ Explain and apply the rules for recognition of liabilities.
o Define ownership interest.

°

Explain how the recognition of ownership interest depends on the recognition of
assets and liabilities.

Use the accounting equation to show the effect of changes in the ownership interest.

® Explain how users of financial statements can gain assurance about assets and
liabilities.

Additionally, for those who choose to study the supplement:

@ Explain how the rules of debit and credit recording are derived from the
accounting equation.
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2.2.1

Introduction

Chapter 1 considered the needs of a range of users of financial information and sum-
marised by suggesting that they would all have an interest in the resources available
to the business and the obligations of the business to those outside it. Many of these
users will also want to be reassured that the business has an adequate flow of cash to
support its continuation. The owners of the business have a claim to the resources of
the business after all other obligations have been satisfied. This is called the ownership
interest or the equity interest. They will be particularly interested in how that owner-
ship interest grows from one year to the next and whether the resources of the
business are being applied to the best advantage.

Accounting has traditionally applied the term assets to the resources available to
the business and has applied the term liabilities to the obligations of the business to
persons other than the owner. Assets and liabilities are reported in a financial state-
ment called a statement of financial position (also called a balance sheet). The state-
ment of the financial position of the entity represents a particular point in time. It may
be described by a very simple equation.

The accounting equation

The accounting equation as a statement of financial position may be expressed as:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest

The ownership interest is the residual claim after liabilities to third parties have
been satisfied. The equation expressed in this form emphasises that residual aspect.

Another way of thinking about an equation is to imagine a balance with a bucket
on each end. In one bucket are the assets (A) minus liabilities (L). In the other is the

ownership interest (OI).
A-L Ol

If anything happens to disturb the assets then the balance will tip unevenly unless
some matching disturbance is applied to the ownership interest. If anything happens
to disturb the liabilities then the balance will tip unevenly unless some matching
disturbance is applied to the ownership interest. If a disturbance applied to an asset
is applied equally to a liability, then the balance will remain level.

Form of the equation: national preferences

If you have studied simple equations in a maths course you will be aware that there
are other ways of expressing this equation. Those other ways cannot change the magni-
tudes of each item in the equation but can reflect a different emphasis being placed on
the various constituents. The form of the equation used in this chapter is the sequence
which has, for many years, been applied in most statements of financial position (balance
sheets) reported to external users of accounting information in the UK. The statements
of financial position that have been reported to external users in some Continental
European countries are better represented by another form of the equation:
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Assets equals Ownership interest plus Liabilities

The ‘balance” analogy remains applicable here but the contents of the buckets have

been rearranged.
A Ol +L

A disturbance on one side of the balance will require a corresponding disturbance
on the other side if the balance is to be maintained.

International variation

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has developed a set of account-
ing standards which together create an accounting system which in this book is
described as the IASB system. The IASB offers no indication as to which of the above
forms of the accounting equation is preferred. That is because of the different tradi-
tions in different countries. Consequently, for companies reporting under the IASB
system, the form of the equation used in any particular situation is a matter of prefer-
ence related to the choice of presentation of the statement of financial position (balance
sheet). That is a communication issue which will be discussed later. This chapter will
concentrate on the nature of the various elements of the equation, namely assets,
liabilities and ownership interest.

Make a simple balance from a ruler balanced on a pencil and put coins on each side.
Satisfy yourself that the ruler only remains in balance if any action on one side of the
balance is matched by an equivalent action on the other side of the balance. Note also
that rearranging the coins on one side will not disturb the balance. Some aspects of
accounting are concerned with taking actions on each side of the balance. Other
aspects are concerned with rearranging one side of the balance.

Defining assets

An asset is defined as: ‘a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from
which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity’.!
To understand this definition fully, each phrase must be considered separately.

Controlled by the entity

Control means the ability to obtain the economic benefits and to restrict the access
of others. The items which everyone enjoys, such as the benefit of a good motorway
giving access to the business or the presence of a highly skilled workforce in a nearby
town, provide benefits to the business which are not reported in financial statements
because there would be considerable problems in identifying the entity’s share of the
benefits. If there is no control, the item is omitted.

The condition of control is also included to prevent businesses from leaving out
of the statement of financial position (balance sheet) some items which ought to be
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2.3.2

2.3.3

Activity 2.2

in there. In past years, practices emerged of omitting an asset and a corresponding
liability from a statement of financial position on the grounds that there was no effec-
tive obligation remaining in respect of the liability. At the same time, the business
carefully retained effective control of the asset by suitable legal agreements. This prac-
tice of omitting items from the statement of financial position was felt to be unhelpful
to users because it was concealing some of the resources used by the business and
concealing the related obligations.

The strongest form of control over an asset is the right of ownership. Sometimes,
however, the entity does not have ownership but does have the right to use an item.
This right may be very similar to the right of ownership. So far as the user of account-
ing information is concerned, what really matters is the availability of the item to the
entity and how well the item is being used to earn profits for the business. Forms of
control may include an agreement to lease or rent a resource, and a licence allowing
exclusive use of a resource.

Past events

Accounting depends on finding some reasonably objective way of confirming that the
entity has gained control of the resource. The evidence provided by a past transaction
is an objective starting point. A transaction is an agreement between two parties which
usually involves exchanging goods or services for cash or a promise to pay cash. (The
supplement to Chapter 1 explains basic business transactions in more detail.) Some-
times there is no transaction but there is an event which is sufficient to give this objec-
tive evidence. The event could be the performance of a service which, once completed,
gives the right to demand payment.

Future economic benefits

Most businesses use resources in the expectation that they will eventually generate
cash. Some resources generate cash more quickly than others. If the business manu-
factures goods in order to sell them to customers, those goods carry a future economic
benefit in terms of the expectation of sale. That benefit comes to the entity relatively
quickly. The business may own a warehouse in which it stores the goods before they
are sold. There is a future economic benefit associated with the warehouse because it
helps create the cash flow from sale of the goods (by keeping them safe from damage
and theft) and also because at some time in the future the warehouse could itself be
sold for cash.

The example of the warehouse is relatively easy to understand, but in other cases
there may be some uncertainty about the amount of the future economic benefit. When
goods are sold to a customer who is allowed time to pay, the customer becomes a
debtor of the business (a person who owes money to the business) and the amount of
the trade receivable is regarded as an asset. There may be some uncertainty as to
whether the customer will eventually pay for the goods. That uncertainty does not
prevent the trade receivable being regarded as an asset but may require some caution
as to how the asset is measured in money terms.

Write down five items in your personal possession which you regard as assets. Use the
definition given in this section to explain why each item is an asset from your point of
view. Then read the next section and compare your list with the examples of business
assets. If you are having difficulty in understanding why any item is, or is not, an asset you
should consult your lecturer, tutor or other expert in the subject area for a discussion on
how to apply the definition in identifying assets.
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I 2.4 Examples of assets

The following items are commonly found in the assets section of the statement of
financial position (balance sheet) of a company:

land and buildings owned by the company

buildings leased by the company on a 50-year lease

plant and machinery owned by the company

equipment leased (rented) by the company under a finance lease
vehicles

raw materials

goods for resale

finished goods

work in progress

trade receivables (amounts due from customers who have promised to pay for
goods sold on credit)

prepaid insurance and rentals

investments in shares of other companies

cash held in a bank account.

Do all these items meet the definition of an asset? Tables 2.1 and 2.2 test each item
against the aspects of the definition which have already been discussed. Two tables
have been used because it is conventional practice to separate assets into current
assets and non-current assets. Current assets are held with the intention of convert-
ing them into cash within the business cycle. Non-current assets, also called fixed
assets, are held for continuing use in the business. The business cycle is the period
(usually 12 months) during which the peaks and troughs of activity of a business form

Table 2.1

Analysis of some frequently occurring non-current assets (fixed assets)

Controlled by the
entity by means of

Past event

Future economic
benefits

company on a
50-year lease

tenant.

terms.

Land and Ownership. Signing the contract as | Used in continuing
buildings evidence of purchase operations of the
owned by the of land and buildings. business; potential
company for sale of the item.
Buildings leased | Contract for Signing a lease Used in continuing
(rented) by the exclusive use as a | agreeing the rental operations of the

business.

Plant and
machinery
owned by the
company

Ownership.

Purchase of plant and
equipment, evidenced
by receiving the goods

and a supplier’s invoice.

Used in continuing
operations of the
business.

Equipment used
under a finance
lease

Contract for
exclusive use.

Signing lease agreeing
rental terms.

Used in continuing
operations of the
business.

Vehicles owned
by the company

Ownership.

Purchase of vehicles,
evidenced by taking
delivery and receiving
a supplier’s invoice.

Used in continuing
operations of the
business.
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Analysis of some frequently occurring current assets

Controlled by the
entity by means of

Past event

Future economic
benefits

payment.

Raw materials Ownership. Receiving raw materials | Used to
into the company’s manufacture
store, evidenced by goods for sale.
goods received note.
Goods Ownership. Receiving goods from Expectation of sale.
purchased supplier into the
from supplier company’s store,
for resale evidenced by the
goods received note.
Finished goods | Ownership. Transfer from Expectation of sale.
(manufactured production line to
by the entity) finished goods store,
evidenced by internal
transfer form.
Work in Ownership. Evaluation of the state | Expectation of
progress of completion of the completion and
(partly finished work, evidenced by sale.
goods) work records.
Trade Contract for Delivery of goods to Expectation that
receivables payment. the customer, obliging | the customer will
(amounts due customer to pay for pay cash.
from customers) goods at a future date.
Prepaid Contract for Paying insurance Expectation
insurance continuing benefit premiums in advance, | of continuing
premiums of insurance cover. | evidenced by cheque insurance cover.

bank account

the bank, evidenced
by bank statement or
certificate.

Investments in Ownership. Buying the shares, Expectation of

shares of other evidenced by broker’s | dividend income

companies contract note. and growth in value
of investment, for
future sale.

Cash held in a Ownership. Depositing cash with Expectation of

using the cash to
buy resources
which will create
further cash.

a pattern which is repeated on a regular basis. For a business selling swimwear,
production will take place all winter in preparation for a rush of sales in the summer.
Painters and decorators work indoors in the winter and carry out exterior work in the
summer. Because many businesses are affected by the seasons of the year, the business
cycle is normally 12 months. Some of the answers are fairly obvious but a few require
a little further comment here.

First, there are the items of buildings and equipment which are rented under a lease
agreement. The benefits of such leases are felt to be so similar to the benefits of owner-
ship that the items are included in the statement of financial position (balance sheet)
as assets. Suitable wording is used to describe the different nature of these items so
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that users, particularly creditors, are not misled into believing that the items belong to
the business.

Second, it is useful to note at this stage that partly finished items of output may be
recorded as assets. The term ‘work in progress’ is used to describe work of the busi-
ness which is not yet completed. Examples of such work in progress might be: partly
finished items in a manufacturing company; a partly completed motorway being built
by a construction company; or a continuing legal case being undertaken by a firm
of lawyers. Such items are included as assets because there has been an event in the
partial completion of the work and there is an expectation of completion and eventual
payment by a customer for the finished item.

Finally, it is clear that the relative future economic benefits of these assets have a
wide variation in potential risk. This risk is a matter of great interest to those who use
accounting information, but there are generally no accounting techniques for reporting
this risk in financial statements. Consequently, it is very important to have adequate
descriptions of assets. Accounting information is concerned with the words used to
describe items in financial statements, as well as the numbers attributed to them.

Definitions  An asset is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from which
future economic benefits are expected to flow.?

A current asset is an asset that satisfies any of the following criteria:

(@) it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the entity’s
normal operating cycle;

(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

(c) it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period;

(d) it is cash or a cash equivalent.?

A non-current asset is any asset that does not meet the definition of a current asset.*
Non-current assets include tangible, intangible and financial assets of a long-term nature.
These are also described as fixed assets.’

- 2.5 Recognition of assets

When an item has passed the tests of definition of an asset, it has still not acquired the
right to a place in the statement of financial position (balance sheet). To do so it must
meet further tests of recognition. Recognition means reporting an item by means of
words and amounts within the main financial statements in such a way that the
item is included in the arithmetic totals. An item which is reported in the notes to
the accounts is said to be disclosed but 1ot recognised.

The conditions for recognition have been expressed as in the following definition.

Definition  An asset is recognised in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) when:

it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the entity and the asset has a
cost or value that can be measured reliably.®

2.5.1 Probability that economic benefits will flow

To establish probability needs evidence. What evidence is sufficient? Usually more
than one item of evidence is looked for. In the case of non-current assets (fixed assets)
which have a physical existence, looking at them to make sure they do exist is a use-
ful precaution which some auditors have in the past regretted not taking. Checking
on physical existence is not sufficient, however, because the enterprise may have no
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2.5.2

2.5.3

control over the future economic benefit associated with the item. Evidence of the bene-
fit from non-current assets may lie in: title deeds of property; registration documents
for vehicles plus the purchase invoice from the supplier; invoices from suppliers of
plant and equipment or office furniture; a written lease agreement for a computer or
other type of equipment; and also the enterprise’s internal forecasts of the profits it
will make by using these non-current assets. This is the kind of evidence which the
auditor seeks in forming an opinion on the financial statements.

For current assets the evidence of future benefit comes when the assets are used
within the trading cycle. A satisfactory sales record will suggest that the present
inventory (stock) of finished goods is also likely to sell. Analysis of the time that
credit customers have taken to pay will give some indication of whether the trade
receivables should be recognised as an asset. Cash can be counted, while amounts
deposited in banks may be confirmed by a bank statement or bank letter. Internal pro-
jections of profit and cash flow provide supporting evidence of the expected benefit
from using current assets in trading activities.

Reliability of measurement

Reliable measurement of assets can be quite a problem. For the most part, this book
will accept the well-tried practice of measuring an asset at the cost of acquiring it,
allowing for any reduction in value through use of the asset (depreciation) or through
it falling out of fashion (obsolescence). The suitability of this approach to measurement
will be discussed in Chapter 14 as one of the main unresolved problems of accounting.

Non-recognition

Consider some items which pass the definition test but do not appear in a statement
of financial position balance sheet:

e the workforce of a business (a human resource)
e the strength of the management team (another human resource)
e the reputation established for the quality of the product
e the quality of the regular customers
@ a tax refund which will be claimable against profits in two years’ time.
These items all meet the conditions of rights or other access, future economic bene-
fits, control and a past transaction or event. However, they all have associated with
them a high level of uncertainty and it could be embarrassing to include them in a
statement of financial position (balance sheet) of one year, only to remove them the
following year because something unexpected had happened.

All these items fail one of the recognition tests and some fail both. The workforce as
a whole may be reliable and predictable, but unexpected circumstances can come to
all and the illness or death of a member of the management team in particular can
have a serious impact on the perceived value of the business. A crucial member of the
workforce might give notice and leave. In relation to the product, a reputation for
quality may become well established and those who would like to include brand
names in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) argue for the permanence
of the reputation. Others illustrate the relative transience of such a reputation by
bringing out a list of well-known biscuits or sweets of 30 years ago and asking who
has heard of them today. Reliable customers of good quality are valuable to a business,
but they are also fickle and may change their allegiance at a moment’s notice. The tax
refund may be measurable in amount, but will there be taxable profits in two years’
time against which the refund may be claimed?

It could be argued that the assets which are not recognised in the financial state-
ments should be reported by way of a general description in a note to the accounts. In
practice, this rarely happens because accounting tries to avoid raising hopes which
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might subsequently be dashed. This cautious approach is part of what is referred to
more generally as prudence in accounting practice.

2.6 Defining liabilities

A liability is defined as: ‘a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the
settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources
embodying economic benefits’.” This wording reads somewhat tortuously but has
been designed to mirror the definition of an asset.

The most familiar types of liabilities arise in those situations where specific amounts
of money are owed by an entity to specific persons called creditors. There is usually
no doubt about the amount of money owed and the date on which payment is due.
Such persons may be trade creditors, the general name for those suppliers who
have provided goods or services in return for a promise of payment later. Amounts
due to trade creditors are described as trade payables. Other types of creditors
include bankers or other lenders who have lent money to the entity.

There are also situations where an obligation is known to exist but the amount due
is uncertain. That might be the case where a court of law has found an entity negligent
in failing to meet some duty of care to a customer. The company will have to pay
compensation to the customer but the amount has yet to be determined.

Even more difficult is the case where an obligation might exist if some future
event happens. Neither the existence nor the amount of the obligation is known with
certainty at the date of the financial statements. An example would arise where one
company has guaranteed the overdraft borrowing of another in the event of that other
company defaulting on repayment. At the present time there is no reason to suppose
a default will occur, but it remains a possibility for the future.

The definition of a liability tries to encompass all these degrees of variation and
uncertainty. It has to be analysed for each separate word or phrase in order to under-
stand the full implications.

2.6.1 Present obligation

A legal obligation is evidence that a liability exists because there is another person or
entity having a legal claim to payment. Most liabilities arise because a legal obligation
exists, either by contract or by statute law.

However, a legal obligation is not a necessary condition. There may be a commer-
cial penalty faced by the business if it takes a certain action. For example, a decision to
close a line of business will lead to the knowledge of likely redundancy costs long
before the employees are actually made redundant and the legal obligation becomes
due. There may be an obligation imposed by custom and practice, such as a condition
of the trade that a penalty operates for those who pay bills late. There may be a future
obligation caused by actions and events of the current period where, for example, a
profit taken by a company now may lead to a taxation liability at a later date which
does not arise at this time because of the wording of the tax laws.

2.6.2 Past events

A decision to buy supplies or to acquire a new non-current asset is not sufficient to
create a liability. It could be argued that the decision is an event creating an obligation,
but it is such a difficult type of event to verify that accounting prefers not to rely too
much on the point at which a decision is made.

Most liabilities are related to a transaction. Normally the transaction involves
receiving goods or services, receiving delivery of new non-current assets such as
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Activity 2.3

m

Definitions

vehicles and equipment, or borrowing money from a lender. In all these cases there is
documentary evidence that the transaction has taken place.

Where the existence of a liability is somewhat in doubt, subsequent events may help
to confirm its existence at the date of the financial statements. For example, when a
company offers to repair goods under a warranty arrangement, the liability exists from
the moment the warranty is offered. It may, however, be unclear as to the extent of the
liability until a pattern of customer complaints is established. Until that time there will
have to be an estimate of the liability. In accounting this estimate is called a provision.
Amounts referred to as provisions are included under the general heading of liabilities.

Outflow of economic benefits

The resource of cash is the economic benefit transferable in respect of most obligations.
The transfer of property in settlement of an obligation would also constitute a transfer
of economic benefits. More rarely, economic benefits could be transferred by offering
a resource such as labour in settlement of an obligation.

Write down five items in your personal experience which you regard as liabilities. Use

the definition given in this section to explain why each item is a liability from your point
of view. Then read the next section and compare your list with the examples of business
liabilities. If you are having difficulty in understanding why any item is, or is not, a liability
you should consult your lecturer, tutor or other expert in the subject area for a discussion
on how to apply the definition in identifying liabilities.

Examples of liabilities

Here is a list of items commonly found in the liabilities section of the statements of
financial position (balance sheets) of companies:

bank loans and overdrafts

trade payables (amounts due to suppliers of goods and services on credit terms)
taxation payable

accruals (amounts owing, such as unpaid expenses)

provision for deferred taxation

long-term loans.

The first five items in this list would be classified as current liabilities because they
will become due for payment within one year of the date of the financial statements.
The last item would be classified as non-current liabilities because they will remain
due by the business for longer than one year.

A liability is a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settlement
of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources embodying
economic benefits.?

A current liability is a liability which satisfies any of the following criteria:

(@) it is expected to be settled in the entity’s normal operating cycle;
(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;
(c) it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period.®

A non-current liability is any liability that does not meet the definition of a current
liability.'® Non-current liabilities are also described as long-term liabilities.
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I 2.8 Recognition of liabilities

As with an asset, when an item has passed the tests of definition of a liability it may
still fail the test of recognition. In practice, because of the concern for prudence, it is
much more difficult for a liability to escape the statement of financial position (balance
sheet).

The condition for recognition of a liability uses wording which mirrors that used
for recognition of the asset. The only difference is that the economic benefits are
now expected to flow from the enterprise. The conditions for recognition have been
expressed in the following way:

Definition A liability is recognised in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) when:

@ it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will result
from the settlement of a present obligation and
@ the amount at which the settlement will take place can be measured reliably.

What kind of evidence is acceptable? For current liabilities there will be a payment
soon after the date of the financial statements and a past record of making such pay-
ments on time. For non-current liabilities (long-term liabilities) there will be a written
agreement stating the terms and dates of repayment required. The enterprise will pro-
duce internal forecasts of cash flows which will indicate whether the cash resources
will be adequate to allow that future benefit to flow from the enterprise.

Reliable measurement will normally be based on the amount owing to the claimant.
If goods or services have been supplied there will be an invoice from the supplier
stating the amount due. If money has been borrowed there will be a bank statement
or some other document of a similar type, showing the lender’s record of how much
the enterprise owes.

In cases which fail the recognition test, the documentary evidence is likely to be
lacking, probably because there is not sufficient evidence of the existence or the
measurable amount. Examples of liabilities which are not recognised in the statement
of financial position (balance sheet) are:

@ a commitment to purchase new machinery next year (but not a firm contract)

@ aremote, but potential, liability for a defective product, where no court action has
yet commenced

@ a guarantee given to support the bank overdraft of another company, where there
is very little likelihood of being called upon to meet the guarantee.

Because of the prudent nature of accounting, the liabilities which are not recognised
in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) may well be reported in note form
under the heading contingent liabilities. This is referred to as disclosure by way of a
note to the accounts.

Looking more closely at the list of liabilities which are not recognised, we see that
the commitment to purchase is not legally binding and therefore the outflow of
resources may not occur. The claim based on a product defect appears to be uncertain
as to occurrence and as to amount. If there has been a court case or a settlement out of
court then there should be a provision for further claims of a similar nature. In the case
of the guarantee the facts as presented make it appear that an outflow of resources is
unlikely. However, such appearances have in the past been deceiving to all concerned
and there is often interesting reading in the note to the financial statements which
describes the contingent liabilities.

An analysis of some common types of liability is given in Table 2.3.
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Table 2.3
Analysis of some common types of liability
Type of liability Obligation Transfer of Past transaction
economic or event
benefits
Bank loans and The entity must repay Cash, Receiving the
overdrafts the loans on the due potentially borrowed funds.
(repayable on date or on demand. within a short
demand or in the space of
very short term) time.
Trade payables Suppliers must be paid Cash within a | Taking delivery
(amounts due to for the goods and short space of the goods or
suppliers of goods | services supplied, of time. service and receiving
and services) usually about one month the supplier’s
after the supplier’s invoice.
invoice is received.
Taxation payable Cash payable to HMRC. | Cash. Making profits in
(tax due on Penalties are charged if the accounting year
company profits tax is not paid on the and submitting an
after the financial | due date. assessment of tax
year-end date) payable.
Accruals (a term Any expense incurred Cash. Consuming
meaning ‘other must be reported as an electricity or gas,
amounts owing’, accrued liability (e.g. using employees’
such as unpaid electricity used, gas services, receiving
bills) used, unpaid wages), if it bills from suppliers
has not been paid at the (note that it is not
financial year-end date. necessary to receive
a gas bill in order to
know that you owe
money for gas used).
Provision for Legislation allows Cash Making profits or
deferred taxation companies to defer eventually, incurring expenditure
(tax due in respect | payment of tax in some but could be | now which meets
of present profits cases. The date of future | in the longer | conditions of
but having a payment may not be term. legislation allowing
delayed payment | known as yet. deferral.
date allowed by
tax law)
Long-term loans Statement of financial Cash. Received borrowed
(sometimes called | position will show funds.
debenture loans) repayment dates of
long-term loans and any
repayment conditions
attached.

I 2.9 Defining the ownership interest

The ownership interest is defined in the Framework as equity. Equity is the residual
interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities."
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The term net assets is used as a shorter way of saying ‘total assets less total liabi-
lities”. Because the ownership interest is the residual item, it will be the owners of the
business who benefit from any increase in assets after liabilities have been met.
Conversely it will be the owners who bear the loss of any decrease in assets after lia-
bilities have been met. The ownership interest applies to the entire net assets. It is
sometimes described as the owners” wealth, although economists would take a view
that the owners’ wealth extends beyond the items recorded in a statement of financial
position (balance sheet).

If there is only one owner, as in the sole trader’s business, then there is no problem
as to how the ownership interest is shared. In a partnership, the partnership agree-
ment will usually state the profit-sharing ratio, which may also be applied to the net
assets shown in the statement of financial position (balance sheet). If nothing is said in
the partnership agreement, the profit sharing must be based on equal shares for each
partner.

In a company the arrangements for sharing the net assets depend on the type
of ownership chosen. The owners may hold ordinary shares in the company, which
entitle them to a share of any dividend declared and a share in net assets on closing
down the business. The ownership interest is in direct proportion to the number of
shares held.

Some investors like to hold preference shares, which give them a preference
(although not an automatic right) to receive a dividend before any ordinary share
dividend is declared. The rights of preference shareholders are set out in the articles
of association of the company. Some will have the right to share in a surplus of net
assets on winding up, but others will only be entitled to the amount of capital origin-
ally contributed.

Definitions  The ownership interest is called equity in the IASB Framework.
Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities.

Net assets means the difference between the total assets and the total liabilities of the
business: it represents the amount of the ownership interest in the entity.

Recognition

There can be no separate recognition criteria for the ownership interest because it is the
result of recognising assets and recognising liabilities. Having made those decisions
on assets and liabilities the enterprise has used up its freedom of choice.

. 2.11 Changes in the ownership interest

It has already been explained that the owner will become better off where the net
assets are increasing. The owner will become worse off where the net assets are
decreasing. To measure the increase or decrease in net assets, two accounting equa-
tions are needed:

Attimet=0 Assets, — Liabilities, equals Ownership interest,

At timet=1 Assets,, — Liabilities, equals Ownership interest,,
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2.11.1

Taking one equation away from the other may be expressed in words as:

Change in (assets - liabilities) equals Change in ownership interest

or, using the term ‘net assets’ instead of ‘assets — liabilities’:

Change in net assets equals Change in ownership interest

The change in the ownership interest between these two points in time is a measure
of how much better or worse off the owner has become, through the activities of the
business. The owner is better off when the ownership interest at time t = 1 is higher
than that at time t = 0. To calculate the ownership interest at each point in time requires
knowledge of all assets and all liabilities at each point in time. It is particularly inter-
esting to know about the changes in assets and liabilities which have arisen from the
day-to-day operations of the business.

The term revenue is given to any increase in the ownership interest arising from the
operations of the business and caused by an increase in an asset which is greater than
any decrease in another asset (or increase in a liability). The term expense is given to
any reduction in the ownership interest arising from the operations of the business
and caused by a reduction in an asset to the extent that it is not replaced by a cor-
responding increase in another asset (or reduction in a liability).

The owner or owners of the business may also change the amount of the ownership
interest by deciding to contribute more cash or other resources in order to finance the
business, or deciding to withdraw some of the cash and other resources previously
contributed or accumulated. The amount contributed to the business by the owner
is usually referred to as capital. Decisions about the level of capital to invest in the
business are financing decisions. These financing decisions are normally distinguished
separately from the results of operations.

So another equation may now be derived as a subdivision of the basic accounting
equation, showing analysis of the changes in the ownership interest.

Capital contributed/withdrawn by the
ownership plus Revenue minus Expenses

Change in ownership

. equals
interest a

The difference between revenue and expenses is more familiarly known as profit.
So a further subdivision of the basic equation is:

Profit equals Revenue minus Expenses

Revenue and expense

Revenue is created by a transaction or event arising during the operations of the busi-
ness which causes an increase in the ownership interest. It could be due to an increase
in cash or trade receivables, received in exchange for goods or services. Depending
on the nature of the business, revenue may be described as sales, turnover, fees, com-
mission, royalties or rent.

An expense is caused by a transaction or event arising during the operations of
the business which causes a decrease in the ownership interest. It could be due to an
outflow or depletion of assets such as cash, inventory (stock) or non-current assets
(fixed assets). It could be due to a liability being incurred without a matching asset
being acquired.
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Definitions  Revenue is created by a transaction or event arising during the ordinary activities of the
entity which causes an increase in the ownership interest. It is referred to by a variety of
different names including sales, fees, interest, dividends, royalties and rent.®

An expense is caused by a transaction or event arising during the ordinary activities of
the business which causes a decrease in the ownership interest.'

2.11.2 Position after a change has occurred

At the end of the accounting period there will be a new level of assets and liabilities
recorded. These assets and liabilities will have resulted from the activities of the busi-
ness during the period, creating revenue and incurring expenses. The owner may also
have made voluntary contributions or withdrawals of capital as a financing decision.
The equation in the following form reflects that story:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest at the start of

at the end of the period the period plus Capital contributed/
withdrawn in the period plus Revenue of
the period minus Expenses of the period

Assurance for users of financial statements

The definitions of assets and liabilities refer to expected flows into or out of the busi-
ness. The recognition conditions refer to the evidence that the expected flows in or out
will occur. The directors of a company are responsible for ensuring that the financial
statements presented by them are a faithful representation of the assets and liabilities
of the business and of the transactions and events relating to those assets and liabili-
ties. Shareholders need reassurance that the directors, as their agents, have carried out
this responsibility with sufficient care. To give themselves this reassurance, the share-
holders appoint a firm of auditors to examine the records of the business and give an
opinion as to whether the financial statements correspond to the accounting records
and present a true and fair view. (Chapter 1 explained the position of directors as
agents of the shareholders. Chapter 4 explains the regulations relating to company
financial statements and the appointment of auditors.)

Meet David and Leona again as they continue their conversation on the work of the
auditor and its value to the shareholder as a user of accounting information provided
by a company.

Q DAVID: I’ve now coated your ceiling with apple green emulsion. In return you promised to
convince me that | rely on audited accounting information more than | realise. Here is your
chance to do that. | was looking today at the annual report of a company which is a
manufacturing business. There is a production centre in the UK but most of the production
work is carried out in Spain where the operating costs are lower. The distribution opera-
tion is carried out from Swindon, selling to retail stores all over the UK. There is an export
market, mainly in France, but the company has only scratched the surface of that market.
Let’s start with something easy — the inventories (stocks) of finished goods which are held

at the factory in Spain and the distribution depot in Swindon.

LEONA: You’ve shown right away how limited your understanding is, by choosing the asset
where you need the auditor’s help the most. Everything can go wrong with inventories
(stocks)! Think of the accounting equation:

Assets — Liabilities = Ownership interest
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If an asset is overstated, the ownership interest will be overstated. That means the profit
for the period, as reported, is higher than it should be. But you won’t know that because
everything will appear to be in order from the accounts. You have told me repeatedly that
you buy the future, not the past, but | know you look to the current profit and loss account
as an indicator of future trends of profit. And so do all your friends.

DAVID: How can the asset of finished goods inventories be overstated? It’s quite a solid item.

LEONA: There are two types of potential error — the physical counting of the inventory
and the valuation placed on it. There are two main causes of error, one being carelessness
and the other an intention to deceive. I've seen situations where the stocktakers count the
same stack of goods twice because they don’t have a marker pen to put a cross on the
items counted. I've also heard of situations where items are counted twice deliberately. We
always attend the end-of-year counting of the inventory and observe the process carefully.
| wish there weren’t so many companies with December year-ends. Counting inventory on
2 January is never a good start to the new year.

DAVID: | suppose | can believe that people lose count but how does the valuation go
wrong? All companies say that they value inventories at cost as the usual rule. How can
the cost of an item be open to doubt?

LEONA: Answering that question needs a textbook in itself. The subject comes under the
heading of ‘management accounting’. Take the goods that you know are manufactured in
Spain. There are costs of materials to make the goods, and labour to convert raw materials
into finished goods. There are also the running costs of the production unit, which are
called the overheads. There is an unbelievable variety of ways of bringing those costs
together into one item of product. How much does the company tell you about all that?
| know the answer — nothing.

DAVID: Well, | could always ask them at a briefing meeting. | usually ask about the profit
margin on the goods sold, rather than the value of the goods unsold. But | can see that
if the inventories figure is wrong then so is the profit margin. Do you have a systematic
procedure for checking each kind of asset?

LEONA: Our magic word is CEAVOP. That stands for:

Completeness of information presented.

Existence of the asset or liability at a given date.

Amount of the transaction is correctly recorded.

Valuation reported for assets and liabilities is appropriate.

Occurrence of the transaction or event took place in the period.

Presentation and disclosure is in accordance with regulations and accounting standards
or other comparable regulations.

Every aspect of that list has to be checked for each of the assets and liabilities you see
in the statement of financial position. We need good-quality evidence of each aspect
before we sign off the audit report.

DAVID: / probably believe that you do a great deal of work with your CEAVOP. But next time
| come round to paint your kitchen I'll bring a list of the situations where the auditors don’t
appear to have asked all the questions in that list.

Summary

This chapter has set out the accounting equation for a situation at any one point in time:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest
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Key points are:

@ An asset is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from
which future economic benefits are expected to flow.

® A current asset is an asset that satisfies any of the following criteria:

(a) it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the
entity’s normal operating cycle;

(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

(c) it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the date of the financial
year-end;

(d) it is cash or a cash equivalent.”

® A non-current asset is any asset that does not meet the definition of a current asset.
Non-current assets include tangible, intangible and financial assets of a long-term
nature. These are also described as fixed assets.

e A liability is a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settle-
ment of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources
embodying economic benefits.

@ A current liability is a liability which satisfies any of the following criteria:

(a) it is expected to be settled in the entity’s normal operating cycle;
(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;
(c) it is due to be settled within 12 months after the date of the financial year-end.

e A non-current liability is any liability that does not meet the definition of a current
liability. Non-current liabilities are also described as long-term liabilities.

@ The ownership interest is called equity in the IASB Framework.

e Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its
liabilities.

@ Net assets means the difference between the total assets and the total liabilities of
the business: it represents the amount of the ownership interest in the entity.

@ Recognition means reporting an item in the financial statements, in words and in
amounts, so that the amounts are included in the arithmetic totals of the financial
statements. Any other form of reporting by way of note is called disclosure. The
conditions for recognition of assets and liabilities are similar in wording.

e At the end of an accounting period the assets and liabilities are reported in a state-
ment of financial position (balance sheet). Changes in the assets and liabilities dur-
ing the period have caused changes in the ownership interest through revenue and
expenses of operations. The owner may also have voluntarily added or withdrawn
capital. The final position is explained on the left-hand side of the equation and the
movement to that position is explained on the right-hand side:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest at the start of

at the end of the period the period plus Capital contributed/
withdrawn in the period plus Revenue of
the period minus Expenses of the period

e As with any equation, it is possible to make this version more complex by adding
further details. That is not necessary for the purpose of explaining the basic pro-
cesses, but the equation will be revisited later in the book when some of the prob-
lems of accounting are opened up. The helpful aspect of the accounting equation is
that it can always be used as a basis for arguing a feasible answer. The limitation is
that it cannot give an opinion on the most appropriate answer when more than one
option is feasible.
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In Chapter 3 there is an explanation of how the information represented by the
accounting equation is displayed in a form which is useful to the user groups
identified in Chapter 1.

Further reading

IASB (1989), Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, section 5
‘The Elements of Financial Statements’ and section 6 ‘Recognition of the Elements of
Financial Statements’, International Accounting Standards Board.

QUESTIONS

The Questions section of each chapter has three types of question. ‘Test your understanding’
questions to help you review your reading are in the ‘A’ series of questions. You will find the
answers to these by reading and thinking about the material in the book. ‘Application’ questions
to test your ability to apply technical skills are in the ‘B’ series of questions. Questions requiring
you to show skills in problem solving and evaluation are in the ‘C’ series of questions. A letter
[S] indicates that there is a solution at the end of the book.

“ Test your understanding

A2.1
A2.2
A2.3
A2.4

A2.5
A2.6
A2.7

A2.8

A2.9

A2.10

A2.11
A2.12

A2.13
A2.14

A2.15
A2.16
A2.17

Write out the basic form of the accounting equation. (Section 2.2)
Define an asset and explain each part of the definition. (Section 2.3)
Give five examples of items which are assets. (Section 2.4)

Use the definition to explain why each of the items in your answer to A.2.3 is an asset.
(Section 2.4)

Explain what ‘recognition’ means in accounting. (Section 2.5)
State the conditions for recognition of an asset. (Section 2.5)

Explain why an item may pass the definition test but fail the recognition test for an asset.
(Section 2.5)

Give three examples of items which pass the definition test for an asset but fail the
recognition test. (Section 2.5)

Some football clubs include the players in the statement of financial position (balance
sheet) as an asset. Others do not. Give the arguments to support each approach.
(Section 2.5)

Define a liability and explain each part of the definition. (Section 2.6)
Give five examples of items which are liabilities. (Section 2.7)

Use the definition to explain why each of the items in your answer to A2.11 is a liability.
(Section 2.7)

State the conditions for recognition of a liability. (Section 2.8)

Explain why an item may pass the definition test but fail the recognition test for a liability.
(Section 2.8)

Define the term ‘equity’. (Section 2.9)
Explain what is meant by ‘net assets’. (Section 2.9)

Set out the accounting equation for a change in the ownership interest. (Section 2.11)
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A2.18 Define ‘revenue’ and ‘expenses’. (Section 2.11.1)

A2.19 Set out the accounting equation which represents the position after a change has
occurred. (Section 2.11.2)

A2.20 Explain the auditor’s approach to giving assurance about assets and liabilities.
(Section 2.12)

n Application

B2.1 [S]
Classify each of the items in the following list as: asset; liability; neither an asset nor a liability.

(@) cash at bank

(b) loan from the bank

(c) letter from the bank promising an overdraft facility at any time in the next three months

(d) trade receivable (an amount due from a customer who has promised to pay later)

(e) trade receivable (an amount due from a customer who has promised to pay later but has
apparently disappeared without leaving a forwarding address)

(f) trade payable (an amount due to a supplier of goods who has not yet received payment
from the business)

g) inventory of finished goods (fashion clothing stored ahead of the spring sales)

h) inventory of finished goods (fashion clothing left over after the spring sales)

i) investment in shares of another company where the share price is rising

j) investment in shares of another company where the share price is falling

k) lender of five-year loan to the business

I) customer to whom the business has offered a 12-month warranty to repair goods free of
charge

m) a motor vehicle owned by the business

) a motor vehicle rented by the business for one year

o) an office building owned by the business

p) an office building rented by the business on a 99-year lease, with 60 years’ lease period
remaining.

B2.2 [S]

Explain whether each of the items from question B.2.1 above which you have identified as
assets and liabilities would also meet the conditions for recognition of the item in the statement
of financial position (balance sheet).

B2.3 [S]
Explain why each of the following items would not meet either the definition or the recognition
conditions of an asset of the business:

(@) a letter from the owner of the business, addressed to the bank manager, promising to
guarantee the bank overdraft of the business

(b) a list of the customers of the business

(c) an order received from a customer

(d) the benefit of employing a development engineer with a high level of ‘know-how’ specifically
relevant to the business

(e) money spent on an advertising campaign to boost sales

(f) structural repairs to a building.

Problem solving and evaluation

C2.1
The following information has been gathered from the accounting records of Pets Parlour:
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Assets and liabilities at 31 December Year 4

£
Cash at bank 500
Borrowings 6,000
Trade receivables (debtors) 5,000
Property, plant and equipment 29,000
Revenue and expenses for the year ended 31 December Year 4

£
Fees charged for work done 20,000
Interest paid on borrowings 1,000
Administration costs incurred 1,500
Salaries paid to employees 14,000

Required
Using the accounting equation, calculate:

(@) The amount of ownership interest at 31 December Year 4.
(b) The amount of net profit for the year.
(c) The amount of the ownership interest at 1 January Year 4.

Activities for study groups

Obtain the annual report of a listed company. From the statement of financial position (balance
sheet) list the items shown as assets and liabilities. (This will require you to look in detail at the
notes to the accounts using the references on the face of the statement of financial position
(balance sheet). Share out the list of assets and liabilities so that each person has four or five
assets and four or five liability items.

1

Separately, using the definitions and recognition criteria, prepare a short statement explaining
why each item on your list passes the tests of definition and recognition. State the evidence
you would expect to see, as auditor, to confirm the expected future inflow of economic bene-
fit from any asset and the expected future outflow of benefit from any liability.

Present your explanations to the group and together prepare a list of assets and a separate
list of liabilities in order of the uncertainty which attaches to the expected future benefit.

Read the ‘contingent liability’ note, if there is one, to find examples of liabilities which have
not been recognised but have been disclosed. Why will you not find a ‘contingent asset’
note?

Notes and references

Q1 LN =
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. IASB (1989), Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, para. 49(a).
. IASB (1989), Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, para. 49(a).
. IAS 1 (2009), para. 66.
. IAS 1 (2009), para. 66.

IAS 1 para. 67 permits the use of alternative descriptions for non-current assets provided the
meaning is clear.

. IASB (1989), Framework, para. 89.

. IASB (1989), Framework, para. 49(b).
. IASB (1989), Framework, para. 49(b).
. IAS 1 (2009), para. 69.

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.

Ibid.

IASB (1989), Framework, para. 91.
IASB (1989), Framework, para. 49(c).
IASB (1989), Framework, para. 74.
IASB (1989), Framework, para. 78.
IAS 1 (2004), para. 57.



Supplement to Chapter 2

Debit and credit bookkeeping

You do not have to read this supplement to be able to progress through the rest of the textbook.
In the main body of each chapter the explanations are all given in terms of changes in elements
of the accounting equation. However, for those who would like to know how debits and credits
work, each chapter will have a supplement putting into debit and credit form the material
contained in the chapter.

Recording in ledger accounts

The double-entry system of bookkeeping records business transactions in ledger
accounts. It makes use of the fact that there are two aspects to every transaction when
analysed in terms of the accounting equation.

A ledger account accumulates the increases and reductions either in a category
of business activities such as sales or in dealings with individual customers and
suppliers.

Ledger accounts may be subdivided. Sales could be subdivided into home sales and
export sales. Separate ledger accounts might be kept for each type of non-current asset,
e.g. buildings and machinery. The ledger account for machinery might be subdivided
as office machinery and production machinery.

Ledger accounts for rent, business rates and property insurance might be kept
separately or the business might instead choose to keep one ledger account to record
transactions in all of these items, giving them the collective name administrative
expenses. The decision would depend on the number of transactions in an accounting
period and on whether it was useful to have separate records.

The managers of the business have discretion to combine or subdivide ledger
accounts to suit the information requirements of the business concerned.

Using the accounting equation

Before entries are made in ledger accounts, the double entry system of bookkeeping
assigns to each aspect of a business transaction a debit or a credit notation, based on
the analysis of the transaction using the accounting equation.

In its simplest form the accounting equation is stated as:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest

To derive the debit and credit rules it is preferable to rearrange the equation so that
there is no minus sign.

Assets equals Liabilities plus Ownership interest

There are three elements to the equation and each one of these elements may either
increase or decrease as a result of a transaction or event. The six possibilities are set out
in Table 2.4.
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Table 2.4
Combinations of increases and decreases of the main elements of transactions

Left-hand side of the equation

Assets Increase Decrease

Right-hand side of the equation

Liabilities Decrease Increase

Ownership interest Decrease Increase

The double-entry bookkeeping system uses this classification (which preserves
the symmetry of the equation) to distinguish debit and credit entries as shown in

Table 2.5.
Table 2.5
Rules of debit and credit for ledger entries, basic accounting equation
Debit entries in a Credit entries in a
ledger account ledger account
Left-hand side of the equation
Asset Increase Decrease
Right-hand side of the equation
Liability Decrease Increase
Ownership interest Decrease Increase

It was shown in the main body of the chapter that the ownership interest may be
increased by:

® earning revenue; and
® new capital contributed by the owner;

and that the ownership interest may be decreased by:

® incurring expenses; and
e capital withdrawn by the owner.

So the ‘ownership interest’ section of Table 2.5 may be expanded as shown in
Table 2.6.

That is all you ever have to know about the rules of bookkeeping. All the rest can
be reasoned from this table. For any transaction there will be two aspects. (If you find
there are more than two, the transaction needs breaking down into simpler steps.) For
each aspect there will be a ledger account. Taking each aspect in turn you ask yourself:
Is this an asset, a liability, or an aspect of the ownership interest? Then you ask yourself:
Is it an increase or a decrease? From Table 2.6 you then know immediately whether to
make a debit or a credit entry.

Examples of the application of the rules of debit and credit recording are given in
the supplement to Chapter 5 for a service business and in the supplement to Chapter 6
for a manufacturing business. They will also be used in later chapters to explain how
particular transactions are reported.
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Table 2.6

Rules of debit and credit for ledger entries, distinguishing different aspects of
ownership interest

Debit entries in a Credit entries in a
ledger account ledger account
Left-hand side of the equation
Asset Increase Decrease
Right-hand side of the equation
Liability Decrease Increase
Ownership interest Expense Revenue
Capital withdrawn Capital contributed

E Test your understanding

(The answer to each of the following questions is either debit or credit)

S2.1
S§2.2
$2.3
S2.4
S2.5

What is the bookkeeping entry for an increase in an asset?

What is the bookkeeping entry for a decrease in a liability?

What is the bookkeeping entry for an increase in an expense?
What is the bookkeeping entry for a withdrawal of owner’s capital?

What is the bookkeeping entry for an increase in revenue?



Chapter 3

Financial statements from the
accounting equation

REAL WORLD CASE

Cash flows

Extracts from management reviews within annual
reports

Marks and Spencer plc

We took a number of actions to improve our cash flow
in 2008/09. In addition to reducing capital expenditure
to £652m from over £1bn in the previous year, we
generated a working capital inflow of £194.0m and
raised £58.3m from the disposal of non-trading stores.
As a result we generated a net cash inflow of £107.5m
after paying interest, tax, dividend and share buy back
of £661.2m. In addition we agreed certain changes to
the property partnership with the pension fund that
provide us with discretion around the annual payments
from the partnership to the fund. This gives us
additional cash flow flexibility and reclassifies the
obligation from debt to equity. As a result of our good
cash flow management and the changes to the property
partnership, net debt at year-end was down to £2.5bn
from £3.1bn at the end of 2007/08.

Source: Marks and Spencer plc Annual report 2009, p. 16.

First Group plc

The Group continues to generate strong cash flows which are used to enhance shareholder value and
pay down debt. Throughout the year we repaid £1,062m of existing short-term acquisition debt from
new equity of £231m, new medium- to long-term debt and cash generation. Subsequent to year-end
we successfully issued a 12 year £350m bond, the proceeds of which were used to prepay the
remaining balance on short-term acquisition debt and to reduce drawings under our bank revolving
facilities. The Group’s debt maturity profile has been significantly improved during the period with the
average duration increasing to 4.6 years (2008: 3.5 years). Following the issue of the £350m bond, the
average debt duration has further increased to 6.0 years. The next major facilities do not fall due until
February 2012. Liquidity under committed bank facilities is strong with £583m available at the year-
end. The flexible nature of our businesses together with the actions we have implemented on costs
and a strong focus on budgetary discipline will ensure that the Group is well placed to deliver our
plans for cash generation and to continue to reduce net debt.

Source: First Group plc Annual report 2009, p. 26.
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Discussion points

cash and short-term investments)?

Cash flow

movements during the year.

1 What do we learn about cash flow from the information provided by Marks and Spencer ( a retail
business) and First Group (a transport business).

2 Why are both companies placing emphasis on reduction of net debt (external borrowing minus

After deducting interest, tax and dividend payments, £467 million of operating cash flow was available
to fund our capital investment programme, demonstrating BAA’s continued strong conversion of
operating profit to cash. The APP joint venture and the other investment property sales generated

a further cash inflow of £625 million. The balance of the £1,403 million capital investment during

the year was funded by increased net debt. The table below summarises the Group’s cash flow

Summary cash flow (£ million)

2005 2004
Cash flow from operating activities 957 853
Interest, tax and dividends (490) (447)
Net cash flow from operations 467 406
Capital expenditure and investment (1,433) (1,266)
Cash impact of property transactions 625 (7)
Other 31 15
Increase in net debt (net of issue costs) (310) (825)

Source: BAA Annual Report 2004/5, p. 34.

Discussion points

1 What do we learn about cash flow from the information in the table?
2 How does the description in words help the user to understand the information in the table?

Contents 3.1 Introduction 52
3.2 Who is in charge of the accounting system? 52
3.3 The accounting period 53
3.4 The statement of financial position (balance sheet) 54

3.4.1 Focus on the ownership interest 54
3.4.2 Balancing assets and claims on assets 99
3.4.3 Example of presentation 56
3.5 The income statement (profit and loss account) 58
3.5.1 Example of presentation 58
3.5.2 Comment 59
3.6 The statement of cash flows 59
3.6.1 Example of presentation 60
3.6.2 Comment 61
3.7 Usefulness of financial statements 62
3.8 Summary 63

Supplement: using the accounting equation to analyse transactions 66
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Learning

outcomes

m

After studying this chapter you should be able to:
e Explain the benefits and problems of producing annual financial statements.

e Explain the purpose and structure of the statement of financial position (balance
sheet).

@ Explain the purpose and structure of the income statement (profit and loss
account).

e Explain the purpose and structure of the statement of cash flows.

e Comment on the usefulness to users of the financial statements prepared.

Additionally for those who choose to study the supplement:

® Apply the debit and credit form of analysis to the transactions of a short period of
time, summarising them in a list which may be used for preparation of simple
financial statements.

Introduction

In the previous chapter the accounting equation was developed as a representation
of the relationships among key items of accounting information: assets, liabilities and
the ownership interest. An understanding of the accounting equation and the various
elements of the equation provides a systematic approach to analysing transactions
and events, but it gives no guidance as to how the results should be communicated in
a manner which will be helpful and meaningful to users. The accounting equation
is used in this chapter as a basis for explaining the structure of financial statements.
Ideas beyond the accounting equation are required as to what qualities are expected
of financial statements.

The various financial statements produced by enterprises for the owners and other
external users are derived from the accounting equation. The Framework identifies the
purposes of financial reporting as producing information about the financial position,
performance and financial adaptability of the enterprise. The three most familiar
primary financial statements, and their respective purposes, are:

Primary financial statement Purpose is to report
Statement of financial position (balance sheet) Financial position
Income statement (Profit and loss account) Financial performance
Statement of cash flows Financial adaptability

This chapter explains the general shape and content of each of these financial
statements.

Who is in charge of the accounting system?

Since 2005 two different accounting systems have existed for companies in the UK,
depending on the type of company. When you look at the name of a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, such as Vodaphone, BskyB, Burberry and Marks and Spencer,
you are really looking at a family group of companies all owned by one parent
company. One set of financial statements represents all the companies in the group.
Under the law of the European Union (EU), these group financial statements for listed
companies must apply the accounting system set out by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB system). Other companies in the UK may choose to follow the
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IASB system of standards but there is no requirement to do so. All companies in the
UK that do not apply the IASB system must apply the accounting system set out by the
UK Accounting Standards Board (ASB). The ASB’s system is also used by many bodies
in the UK public sector such as town and city councils, hospital trusts and universities.
Fortunately for those studying the subject, the ASB and the IASB have been work-
ing closely together for many years and there are relatively few differences between
the two systems. However, there is a potential difference in the appearance and the
wording of financial statements. Companies applying the UK ASB’s accounting system
must use specifications of the sequence and content of items (called formats of financial
statements) set out in UK company law which is based on EU directives. Companies
applying the IASB’s system to their listed group reporting have a choice in how they
present their financial statements. As a consequence we are now seeing variety in
the content and sequence of financial statements published in the annual reports of
groups listed on the Stock Exchange. This chapter gives you a flavour of the formats
that you might see in financial statements. Where there are differences in words used,
this chapter gives the wording of the IASB system first, followed by the wording of
UK company law and ASB standards in brackets. As an example, the description:

income statement (profit and loss account)

means that the IASB system uses income statement in its illustrations of a profit
statement, while UK law and ASB standards use profit and loss account in their
illustrations of a profit statement.

The accounting period

In the far-away days of traders sailing out of Italian ports on three-year voyages,
the accounting period was determined by the date of return of the ship, when the
accounts could be prepared for the whole voyage. That rather leisurely view of the
scale of time would not be tolerated in an industrial and commercial society where
there is always someone demanding information. The convention is that businesses
should prepare financial statements at least once in every calendar year. That conven-
tion is a requirement of law expressed in the Companies Act 2006 in the case of
limited liability companies. Where companies have a Stock Exchange listing they are
required to produce an interim report six months into the accounting year. Some
companies voluntarily produce quarterly reports to shareholders, reflecting the prac-
tice of listed companies in the USA. For internal management accounting purposes, a
business may produce reports more frequently (e.g. on a monthly or a weekly basis).

Businesses may choose their accounting date as a time convenient to their activities.
Many companies choose 31 December for the year-end, but others (including many of
the utility companies which were formerly owned by the government) use 31 March.
Some prefer a September or October date after the peak of the summer sales has
passed. Whatever the choice, companies are expected to keep the same date from one
year to the next unless there is a strong reason for changing.

The use of a 12-month accounting period should not be too much of a problem
where the trading cycle fits neatly into a year. If the business is seasonal, there will be
a peak of production to match the seasonal peak of sales and the pattern will be
repeated every year. There could be a few technical problems of deciding exactly how
to close the door on 31 December and whether transactions towards the end of the
year are to be included in that year or carried to the next period. These problems can
be dealt with by having systematic ‘cut-off’ rules. There is a bigger problem for those
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3.4.1

companies whose trading cycle is much longer. It could take two years to build a sec-
tion of a motorway or three years to build a bridge over a wide river estuary. Such a
company will have to subdivide the work on the main contract so that some can be
reported each year.

The use of the 12-month accounting period also causes problems for recognition
of assets and liabilities. Waiting for the ship to arrive was much safer evidence for the
Venetian traders than hoping it was still afloat or relying on reported sightings. For
today’s business the equivalent situation would be waiting for a property to be sold
or for a large customer to pay the amount due as a debt. However, in practice the
statement of financial position (balance sheet) cannot wait. Notes to the accounts give
additional explanations to help users of financial statements evaluate the risk, but it is
all quite tentative.

The statement of financial position (balance sheet)

The statement of financial position (balance sheet) reflects the accounting equation.
Both descriptions are used in this textbook because you will find both in use. The
International Accounting Standards Board prefers the term ‘statement of financial
position” while company law in the UK uses the term ‘balance sheet’. You saw in
Chapter 2 that there is more than one way to write the accounting equation. That
means there is more than one way to present a statement of financial position (balance
sheet). You will find throughout your study of accounting that there is often more than
one approach to dealing with an activity or solving a problem. This is the first time but
there will be more. It means that you need to be flexible in your approach to reading
and using financial statements.

Focus on the ownership interest

One form of the accounting equation focuses on the ownership interest as the result of
subtracting liabilities from assets. The equation is as follows:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest

UK companies who apply this form of the equation will present the statement of
financial position (balance sheet) in a narrative form, reading down the page, as follows:

Assets

minus

Liabilities

equals

Ownership interest

The assets are subdivided into current assets and non-current assets (defined in
Chapter 2), while the liabilities are subdivided into current liabilities and non-current
liabilities (also defined in Chapter 2). The ownership interest may also be subdivided
to show separately the capital contributed or withdrawn and the profit of the period.
Because current assets and current liabilities are closely intertwined in the day-to-day
operations of the business, they are grouped close to each other in the statement of
financial position (balance sheet) (Table 3.1).
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Table 3.1
Structure of a statement of financial position (balance sheet)

Non-current assets

plus

Current assets

minus

Current liabilities

minus

Non-current liabilities

equals

Capital at start of year

plus/minus

Capital contributed or withdrawn

plus

Profit of the period

Table 3.1 represents a typical format used by public companies. For many years
prior to 2005 it was the format most commonly used by UK companies and continues
to be used by some UK companies that have moved to the IASB system of accounting.
Most companies will try to confine the statement of financial position (balance sheet)
to a single side of A4 paper but there is not much space on one sheet of A4 paper to fit
in all the assets and liabilities of a company. Consequently a great deal of use is made
of notes to the accounts which explain the detail. The statement of financial position
(balance sheet) shows only the main categories of assets and liabilities.

3.4.2 Balancing assets and claims on assets

Another form of the accounting equation focuses on balancing the assets against the
claims on assets. The claims on assets come from the ownership interest and from
liabilities of all types. The equation is:

Assets equals Ownership interest plus Liabilities

UK companies who apply this form of the equation will present the statement of
financial position (balance sheet) vertically on one sheet of paper but the sequence
will be different:

Assets

equals

Ownership interest

plus

Liabilities
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Activity 3.1

3.4.3

In some countries there is a preference for lining up the statement of financial posi-
tion (balance sheet) horizontally to match the accounting equation even more closely.

Ownership interest

Assets plus

Liabilities

Before reading further, make sure that you can explain why each item in the accounting
records is an asset or a liability, as shown in the foregoing list. If you have any doubts,
read Chapter 2 again before proceeding with this chapter.

Example of presentation

The following list of assets and liabilities of P. Mason’s legal practice was prepared
from the accounting records of transactions summarised at 30 September Year 5:

£
Land and buildings 250,000
Office furniture 30,000
Receivables (debtors) for fees 1,200
Prepayment of insurance premium 540
Cash at bank 15,280
Total assets (A) 297,020
Trade payables (creditors) 2,800
Long-term loan 150,000
Total liabilities (L) 152,800
Ownership interest (A — L) 144,220

Table 3.2 shows how this would appear in a statement of financial position (balance
sheet) based on the ‘ownership interest’ form of the equation. Table 3.3 shows how the
same information would appear in a statement of financial position (balance sheet)
based on the ‘claims on assets” form of the equation.

The statement of financial position (balance sheet) in Table 3.2 is more informative
than the list of assets and liabilities from which it was prepared because it has been
arranged in a helpful format. The first helpful feature is the use of headings (shown
in Table 3.2 in bold) for similar items grouped together, such as non-current assets,
current assets, current liabilities and non-current liabilities. The second helpful feature
is the use of subtotals (identified in Table 3.2 by descriptions in italics and shaded) for
similar items grouped together. The subtotals used in this example are those for: total
non-current assets; total current assets; and current assets less current liabilities. There
are no standard rules on use of subtotals. They should be chosen in a manner most
appropriate to the situation.

A person using this statement of financial position (balance sheet) can see at a
glance that there is no problem for the business in meeting its current liabilities from
its resources of current assets. The financing of the business is split almost equally
between the non-current liabilities and the ownership interest, a split which would not
be regarded as excessively risky by those who lend to businesses. The non-current
assets used as a basis for generating profits from one year to the next are collected
together as a group, although the statement of financial position (balance sheet) alone
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Table 3.2
Statement of financial position (balance sheet): Assets minus liabilities equals
ownership interest

P. Mason’s legal practice Statement of financial position (balance sheet)
at 30 September Year 5
£ £
Non-current assets
Land and buildings 250,000
Office furniture 30,000
Total non-current assets 280,000
Current assets
Receivables (debtors) for fees 1,200
Prepayment of insurance premium 540
Cash at bank 15,280
Total current assets 17,020
Current liabilities
Trade payables (creditors) (2,800)
Current assets less current liabilities 14,220
294,220
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loan (150,000)
Net assets 144,220
Ownership interest 144,220

Table 3.3
Statement of financial position (balance sheet): Assets equal ownership interest
plus liabilities

P. Mason’s legal practice Statement of financial position (balance sheet)
at 30 September Year 5
£ £

Non-current assets

Land and buildings 250,000

Office furniture 30,000
Total non-current assets 280,000
Current assets

Receivables for fees 1,200

Prepayment of insurance premium 540

Cash at bank 15,280
Total current assets 17,020
Total assets 297,020
Ownership interest 144,220
Non-current liabilities

Long-term loan 150,000
Current liabilities

Trade payables 2,800
Total ownership interest plus liabilities 297,020

cannot show how effectively those assets are being used. For that, an income state-
ment (profit and loss account) is needed.

The statement of financial position (balance sheet) in Table 3.3 is again more
informative than the list of assets and liabilities from which it was prepared because it
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3.5.1

has been arranged in a helpful format. It offers a helpful feature in the use of headings
(in bold) for similar items grouped together. It is also helpful in providing subtotals
(identified by descriptions in italics and shaded) for similar items grouped together.
The subtotals used in this example are those for: total non-current assets and total cur-
rent assets. There could also be subtotals for the current assets less current liabilities.
There are no standard rules on use of subtotals. They should be chosen in a manner
most appropriate to the situation.

A person using this statement of financial position (balance sheet) can again see at
a glance that there is no problem for the business in meeting its current liabilities from
its resources of current assets. The financing of the business is split almost equally
between the non-current liabilities and the ownership interest, a split which would not
be regarded as excessively risky by those who lend to businesses. The non-current
assets used as a basis for generating profits from one year to the next are collected
together as a group, although the statement of financial position (balance sheet) alone
cannot show how effectively those assets are being used.

The income statement (profit and loss account)

For many years in the UK, profit and loss account was the only title used for the finan-
cial statement reporting profit of the period. From 2005 many of those listed groups
following the IASB’s system have chosen to follow an example given by the IASB
which uses the heading income statement, found more commonly in US company
reports. It is not compulsory for listed group companies to use ‘income statement’ and
some retain the ‘profit and loss account’ heading. The income statement (profit and
loss account) reflects that part of the accounting equation which defines profit:

Profit equals Revenue minus Expenses

The expenses of a period are matched against the revenue earned in that period.
This is described as the application of the matching concept in accounting.

As with the statement of financial position (balance sheet), it is presented in a
vertical form so that it can be read down the page as a narrative (Table 3.4).

Table 3.4
Structure of an income statement
(profit and loss account)

Revenue

minus

Expenses

equals

Profit

Example of presentation

The accounting records of P. Mason’s legal practice at 30 September Year 5 showed
that the ownership interest could be explained as follows (using brackets to show
negative items):



Chapter 3 Financial statements from the accounting equation m

£
Increases in ownership interest
Capital contributed at start of month 140,000
Fees 8,820
Decreases in ownership interest
Computer rental and online searches (1,500)
Gas (100)
Electricity (200)
Telephone/fax (1,000)
Salary of assistant (1,800)
Ownership interest at end of month 144,220

The statement of profit is quite simple, as shown in Table 3.5.

Table 3.5
Financial statement of profit, in a useful format
P. Mason’s legal practice
Income statement (profit and loss account) for the month of September
£ £
Revenues
Fees 8,820
Expenses
Computer rental and online searches (1,500)
Gas (100)
Electricity (200)
Telephone/fax (1,000)
Salary of assistant (1,800)
Total expenses (4,600)
Net profit of the month 4,220

3.5.2 Comment

The income statement (profit and loss account) improves on the mere list of con-
stituent items by providing headings (shown in bold) for each main category. As this
is a very simple example, only two headings and one subtotal are required. Headings
and subtotals are most useful where there are groups of items of a similar nature. The
resulting net profit shows how the revenues and expenses have contributed overall to
increasing the ownership interest during the month.

Activity 3.2 Taking each item of the income statement (profit and loss account) in turn, explain to
an imaginary friend why each item of revenue and expense is regarded as increasing or
decreasing the ownership interest. If necessary, look back to the definitions of revenue
and expense in Chapter 2. Make sure that you feel confident about the income statement
(profit and loss account) before you move on.

I 3.6 The statement of cash flows

It was shown in Chapter 1 that liquidity is of interest to more than one user group, but
of particular interest to creditors of the business.

Liquidity is measured by the cash and near-cash assets and the change in those
assets, so a financial statement which explains cash flows should be of general interest
to user groups:
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Cash inflows to the enterprise minus

Cash flow S Cash outflows from the enterprise

The statement of cash flows will appear in a vertical form:

Cash inflows

minus

Cash outflows

equals

Change in cash assets

In a business there will be different factors causing the inflows and outflows of cash.
The enterprise will try to make clear what the different causes are. Subdivisions are
commonly used for operating activities, investing activities and financing activities:

e Operating activities are the actions of buying and selling goods, or manufacturing
goods for resale, or providing a service to customers.

® [nvesting activities are the actions of buying and selling non-current assets for long-
term purposes.

e Financing activities are the actions of raising and repaying the long-term finance of
the business.

Table 3.6 sets out the basic structure of a basic statement of cash flows.

Table 3.6
Structure of a statement of cash flows

Operating activities
Cash inflows
minus

Cash outflows

plus

Investing activities
Cash inflows
minus
Cash outflows

plus

Financing activities
Cash inflows
minus
Cash outflows

equals

Change in cash assets

3.6.1 Example of presentation

The cash transactions of P. Mason’s legal practice for the month of September were
recorded as follows:
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Accounting records

Year 5 £
Cash received
Sept. 1 Capital contributed by P. Mason 140,000
Sept. 1 Loan from bank 150,000
Sept. 19 Fees received from clients 7,620
Total cash received 297,620
Cash paid
Sept. 1 Land and buildings 250,000
Sept. 5 Prepayment of insurance premium 540
Sept. 26 Supplier for office furniture 30,000
Sept. 30 Salaries 1,800
Total cash paid 282,340
Cash remaining at 30 September 15,280

The statement of cash flows would be presented as shown in Table 3.7.

Table 3.7
Financial statement showing cash flows of an enterprise

P. Mason’s legal practice
Statement of cash flows for the month of September Year 5

Operating activities £
Inflow from fees 7,620
Outflow to insurance premium (540)
Outflows to salaries (1,800)
Net inflow from operations 5,280
Investing activities

Payment for land and building (250,000)
Payment for office furniture (30,000)
Net outflow for investing activities (280,000)
Financing activities

Capital contributed by owner 140,000
Five-year loan from bank 150,000
Net inflow from financing activities 290,000
Increase in cash at bank over period 15,280

3.6.2 Comment

The cash flows, listed at the start of section 3.5.1 in the accounting records for the legal
practice, relate to three different types of activity which are brought out more clearly
in the statement of cash flows by the use of headings and subtotals. The headings are
shown in bold and the subtotals are highlighted by italics and shading. The story
emerging from the statement of cash flows is that the owner put in £140,000 and the
bank lent £150,000, providing a total of £290,000 in start-up finance. Of this amount,
£280,000 was used during the month to pay for non-current assets. That left £10,000
which, when added to the positive cash flow from operations, explains why the cash
resources increased by £15,280 over the month.

It is quite common to compare the increase in ownership claim caused by making
a profit with the increase in the cash resources of a business caused by operations. In
this case the profit is £4,220 (Table 3.5) but the operations have added £15,280 to the
cash assets of the business.

To make the comparison, Table 3.8 takes the income statement (profit and loss
account) of Table 3.5 and sets alongside it the cash flows relating to operations.

Table 3.8 shows that the cash flow from fees was £1,200 less than the fee revenue
earned because some customers had not paid at the month end. This is the amount
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Table 3.8
Comparison of profit and cash flow for the month of September
P. Mason’s legal practice
Profit Cash flow
£ £
Revenues
Fees/cash received 8,820 7,620
Expenses
Computer rental and online searches (1,500) nil
Gas (100) nil
Electricity (200) nil
Telephone/fax (1,000) nil
Salary of assistant (1,800) (1,800)
Payment for insurance premium nil (540)
Total expenses/total cash paid 4,600 (2,340)
Net profit of the month 4,220
Increase in cash in the month 5,280

shown in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) (Table 3.2) as receivables
for fees. Table 3.8 also shows that expenses of rental, gas, electricity and telephone
amounting to £2,800 in total had not been paid at the month end. These are shown as
trade payables in the statement of financial position (balance sheet). The cash flow
from operations is reduced by the payment for the insurance premium which does not
affect the income statement (profit and loss account) for the month.

Users of financial statements regard both the profit and the cash flow as interesting
items of information. The profit shows the overall increase in ownership claim which
contributes to the overall wealth of the business. The cash flow shows the ability of the
business to survive financially through planning the timing and amount of inflows
and outflows of cash.

Usefulness of financial statements

Here are Leona and David, still working on Leona’s flat, discussing the usefulness of
financial statements.

LEONA: Which financial statement is the most important for you?

DAVID: /t has to be the income statement (profit and loss account). Profit creates wealth.
Future profit creates future wealth. | have to make a forecast of each company’s profit as
part of my planning to meet our overall investment strategy. Maybe | should qualify that by
adding that cash flow is also important, especially where there is high uncertainty about
future prospects. We talk about ‘quality of profits’ and regard some types of profit as of
higher quality than others. Cash flow support is one aspect of that quality. We have doubts
about some accounting amounts which don’t have a close relationship to cash. A business
cannot survive if it can’t pay its way.

LEONA: Where does that leave the statement of financial position?

DAVID: I’'m not sure. It is a list of resources and claims on those resources. We are share-
holders and so we have a claim on those resources but we don'’t think about it to any great
extent because we are concentrating on the going concern aspects of the business, rather
than closing down and selling the assets. The numbers in the statement of financial posi-
tion don’t mean very much because they are out of date.
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LEONA: We studied research at university which suggested that cash flow is the answer
and income statements (profit and loss accounts) are too difficult to understand. It was
suggested that the statement of financial position (balance sheet) should show what the
assets could be sold for. | don’t think the ideas had caught on in practice, but they seemed
to have some merits.

DAVID: / like to know the dynamics of the business. | like to see the movements of different
aspects and the interactions. | think | would feel that cash flow alone is concentrating on
only one aspect of the wealth of the business. | suppose the statement of financial position
is a useful check on the position which has been reached as a result of making profits
for the period. One thing we do look at in the statement of financial position is how much
has been borrowed for use in the business. We don’t like to see that become too high in
comparison with the ownership interest.

LEONA: At least you are admitting to seeing something in the financial statements. | still
have to persuade you that the auditors are important in giving you the reassurance you
obviously obtain.

Activity 3.3 Analyse your own view of wealth and changes in wealth. Which items would you include
in your personal statement of financial position (balance sheet) today? Which items would
you include in your personal ‘profit or loss’ calculation for the past year? Which items
would you include in your personal statement of cash flows? Has your view of ‘wealth’
been modified as a result of reading these first three chapters? If so, how have your views
changed?

I 3.8 Summary

This chapter has explained the structure of the main financial statements produced by
business and non-business entities.
Key points are:

e An accounting period of 12 months is common for financial reporting.

e The primary financial statements produced by a wide range of entities are the state-
ment of financial position (balance sheet), the income statement (profit and loss
account) and the statement of cash flows.

e A statement of financial position (balance sheet) presents financial position at a
point in time. The format of the statement of financial position (balance sheet) will
vary depending on which version of the accounting equation is preferred by the
entity preparing the statement.

e An income statement (profit and loss account) presents the performance over a
period of time. The income statement (profit and loss account) presents financial
performance by matching revenue and expenses to arrive at a profit of the period.

e A statement of cash flows presents the financial adaptability over a period of time.
It explains changes in the cash position over a period caused by operating cash
flows, investing cash flows and financing cash flows.

e Since 2005 two different accounting systems (consisting of accounting standards
and legislation) have existed for companies in the UK, depending on the type of
company. The IASB system applies to the group financial statements of listed com-
panies. Other companies may choose voluntarily to follow the IASB system. The
UK ASB system, based on UK law and the standards of the UK ASB, applies to all
companies that do not follow the IASB system.

e The accounting standards of the UK ASB are very similar to those of the IASB.
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QUESTIONS

The Questions section of each chapter has three types of question. ‘Test your understanding’
questions to help you review your reading are in the ‘A’ series of questions. You will find the
answers to these by reading and thinking about the material in the book. ‘Application’ questions
to test your ability to apply technical skills are in the ‘B’ series of questions. Questions requiring
you to show skills in problem solving and evaluation are in the ‘C’ series of questions. A letter
[S] indicates that there is a solution at the end of the book.

“ Test your understanding

A3.1

A3.2

A3.3

A3.4

A3.5

A3.6

A3.7

Explain why an accounting period of 12 months is used as the basis for reporting to
external users of financial statements. (Section 3.3)

Explain how the structure of the statement of financial position (balance sheet) cor-
responds to the accounting equation. (Section 3.4)

Explain how the structure of the income statement (profit and loss account) represents
a subsection of the accounting equation. (Section 3.5)

Explain how the structure of the statement of cash flows represents another subsection
of the accounting equation. (Section 3.6)

List three features of a statement of financial position (balance sheet) which are
particularly useful in making the format helpful to readers. (Section 3.4.3)

List three features of an income statement (profit and loss account) format which are
particularly useful in making the format helpful to readers. (Section 3.5.1)

List three features of a statement of cash flows which are particularly useful in making
the format helpful to readers. (Section 3.6.1)

B Application

B3.1 [S]

John Timms is the sole owner of Sunshine Wholesale Traders, a company which buys fruit from
farmers and sells it to supermarkets. All goods are collected from farms and delivered to super-
markets on the same day, so no inventories (stocks) of fruit are held. The accounting records
of Sunshine Traders at 30 June Year 2, relating to the year then ended, have been summarised
by John Timms as follows:

£
Fleet of delivery vehicles, after deducting depreciation 35,880
Furniture and fittings, after deducting depreciation 18,800
Trade receivables 34,000
Bank deposit 19,000
Trade payables (creditors) 8,300
Sales 294,500
Cost of goods sold 188,520
Wages and salaries 46,000
Transport costs 14,200
Administration costs 1,300
Depreciation of vehicles, furniture and fittings 1,100

Required

(@) Identify each item in the accounting records as either an asset, a liability, or ownership inter-
est (identifying separately the expenses and revenues which contribute to the change in the
ownership interest).
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(b) Prepare a statement of financial position (balance sheet) at 30 June Year 2.
(c) Prepare an income statement (profit and loss statement) for the year ended 30 June Year 2.

B3.2 [S]
Prepare a statement of financial position (balance sheet) from the following list of assets and
liabilities, regarding the ownership interest as the missing item.

£
Trade payables (creditors) 43,000
Cash at bank 9,000
Inventories (stocks) of goods for resale 35,000
Land and buildings 95,000
Wages due to employees but not paid 2,000
Vehicles 8,000
Five-year loan from a bank 20,000

Explain how the statement of financial position (balance sheet) will change for each of the
following transactions:

(@) The wages due to the employees are paid at £2,000.

(b) One-quarter of the inventory (stock) of goods held for resale is destroyed by fire and there
is no insurance to cover the loss.

(c) Goods for resale are bought on credit at a cost of £5,000.

There are no questions in the C series for this chapter.

Activities for study groups

Return to the annual reports your group obtained for the exercise in Chapter 1. Find the
statement of financial position (balance sheet), income statement (profit and loss account) and
statement of cash flows. Use the outline formats contained in this chapter to identify the main
areas of each of the published statements. Work together in preparing a list of features which
make the formats useful to the reader. Note also any aspects of the presentation which you
find unhelpful at this stage. (It may be useful to look back on this note at the end of the course
as a collective check on whether your understanding and awareness of annual report items
has improved.)



Supplement to Chapter 3

Using the accounting equation to
analyse transactions

In the main body of the chapter the transactions of P. Mason’s legal practice are set out in
summary form and are then presented in financial statements. This supplement goes back one
stage and looks at the transactions and events for the month of September which resulted in the
summary and financial statements shown in the chapter.

The list of transactions and events is as follows:

Sept. 1 P. Mason deposits £140,000 in a bank account to commence the busi-
ness under the name P. Mason’s legal practice.
Sept. 1 P. Mason’s legal practice borrows £150,000 from a finance business to

help with the intended purchase of a property for use as an office. The
loan is to be repaid in five years’ time.

Sept. 1 A property is purchased at a cost of £75,000 for the land and £175,000
for the buildings. The full price is paid from the bank account.

Sept. 3 Office furniture is purchased from Stylecraft at a cost of £30,000. The
full price is to be paid within 90 days.

Sept. 5 An insurance premium of £540 is paid in advance. The insurance cover
will commence on 1 October.

Sept. 8 An applicant is interviewed for a post of legal assistant. She agrees to
start work on 10 September for a salary of £24,000 per annum.

Sept. 11 Invoices are sent to some clients for work done in preparing contracts

for them. The total of the invoiced amounts is £8,820. Clients are
allowed up to 30 days to pay.

Sept. 19 Cheques received from clients in payment of invoices amount to
£7,620.

Sept. 26 Payment is made to Stylecraft for the amount due for office furniture,
£30,000.

Sept. 28 Bills are received as follows: for computer rental and online searches,
£1,500; gas, £100; electricity, £200; and telephone/fax, £1,000.
Sept. 30 Legal assistant is paid salary of £1,800 for period to end of month.

In the supplement to Chapter 2 a table was prepared, based on the account-
ing equation, showing the classification used for debit and credit bookkeeping
entries. As a reminder, the form of the equation used to derive the debit and credit
rules is:

Assets equals Liabilities plus Ownership interest

As a further reminder, the rules are set out again in Table 3.9. Each of the trans-
actions of P. Mason’s legal practice for the month of September is now analysed in
terms of the effect on the accounting equation and the resulting debit and credit
entries which would be made in the accounting records.



Table 3.9

Rules for debit and credit recording

Chapter 3 Financial statements from the accounting equation

Debit entries in a ledger | Credit entries in a ledger
account account

Left-hand side of the equation

Asset Increase Decrease

Right-hand side of the equation

Liability Decrease Increase

Ownership interest Expense Revenue
Capital withdrawn Capital contributed

Analysis of each transaction

Sept. 1

under the name P. Mason’s legal practice.

P. Mason deposits £140,000 in a bank account to commence the business

The business acquires an asset (cash in the bank) and an ownership interest is
created through contribution of capital.

Transaction number: 1

Debit

Credit

Asset

Bank £140,000

Ownership interest

Capital contributed
£140,000

Sept. 1

P. Mason’s legal practice borrows £150,000 from a finance business to

help with the intended purchase of a property for use as an office. The
loan is to be repaid in five years’ time.

The business acquires an asset of cash and a long-term liability is created.

Transaction number: 2

Debit

Credit

Asset Bank £150,000
Liability Long-term loan £150,000
Sept. 1 A property is purchased at a cost of £75,000 for the land and £175,000 for

the buildings. The full price is paid from the bank account.

The business acquires an asset of land and buildings (£250,000 in total) and the asset
of cash in the bank is reduced.

Transaction number: 3

Debit

Credit

Asset Land and buildings Bank £250,000
£250,000
Sept. 3 Office furniture is purchased from Stylecraft at a cost of £30,000. The full

price is to be paid within 90 days.
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The business acquires an asset of furniture and also acquires a liability to pay the
supplier, Stylecraft. The liability is called a trade payable (creditor).

Transaction number: 4 Debit Credit
Asset Furniture £30,000
Liability Trade payable (Stylecraft)
£30,000
Sept. 5 An insurance premium of £540 is paid in advance. The insurance cover

will commence on 1 October.

The business acquires an asset of prepaid insurance (the benefit of cover exists in
the future) and the asset of cash at bank is reduced.

Transaction number: 5 Debit Credit

Asset Prepayment £540 Bank £540

Sept.8  An applicant is interviewed for a post of legal assistant. She agrees to
start work on 10 September for a salary of £24,000 per annum.

The successful outcome of the interview is an event and there is an expected future
benefit from employing the new legal assistant. The employee will be controlled by
the organisation through a contract of employment. The organisation has a commit-
ment to pay her the agreed salary. It could be argued that the offer of employment,
and acceptance of that offer, create an asset of the human resource and a liability
equal to the future salary. That does not happen because the recognition conditions
are applied and it is felt too risky to recognise an asset when there is insufficient
evidence of the future benefit. Commercial prudence dictates that it is preferable
to wait until the employee has done some work and pay her at the end of the month
for work done during the month. The accounting process is similarly prudent and
no accounting recognition takes place until the payment has occurred. Even then it is
the expense of the past which is recognised, rather than the asset of benefit for the
future.

Sept. 11 Invoices are sent to some clients showing fees due for work done in
preparing contracts for them. The total of the invoiced amounts is
£8,820. Clients are allowed up to 30 days to pay.

Earning fees is the main activity of the legal practice. Earning fees makes the owner
better off and is an example of the more general activity of increasing the ownership
interest by creating revenue. The clients have not yet paid and therefore the business
has an asset called a trade receivable (debtor).

Transaction number: 6 Debit Credit
Asset Trade receivables £8,820
Ownership interest Fees for work done £8,820
(revenue)
Sept. 19 Cheques received from clients in payment of invoices amount to

£7,620.



Chapter 3 Financial statements from the accounting equation m

When the customers pay, the amount due to the business from debtors will be
decreased. So the asset of trade receivables decreases and the asset of cash in the bank
increases.

Transaction number: 7 Debit Credit
Asset Bank £7,620 Trade receivables £7,620
Sept. 26 Payment is made to Stylecraft for the amount due for office furniture,
£30,000.

The asset of cash in the bank decreases and the liability to Stylecraft decreases to nil.

Transaction number: 8 Debit Credit
Asset Bank £30,000
Liability Trade payable (Stylecraft)
£30,000
Sept. 28 Bills are received as follows: for computer rental and online searches,
£1,500; gas, £100; electricity, £200; and telephone/fax £1,000 (total
£2,800).

The computer rental, online searches, gas, electricity and telephone have been used
up during the period and are all expenses which reduce the ownership interest. They
are unpaid and, therefore, a liability is recorded.

Transaction number: 9 Debit Credit
Liability Trade payables £2,800
Ownership interest Expenses £2,800

Sept. 30 Legal assistant is paid salary of £1,800 for period to end of month.

The asset of cash at bank decreases and the salary paid to the legal assistant is an
expense of the month.

Transaction number: 10 Debit Credit
Asset Bank £1,800
Ownership interest Expense £1,800

Summarising the debit and credit entries

The formal system of bringing together debit and credit entries is based on ledger
accounts. These are explained in the supplement to Chapter 5. For the present it will
be sufficient to use a spreadsheet (Table 3.10) to show how the separate debit and
credit entries analysed in this supplement lead to the list of items used in the main part
of the chapter as the basis for the financial statements presented there.

In the spreadsheet there are dates which correspond to the dates of the foregoing
ten separate analyses of transactions. The debit and credit entries are shown with
Dr or Cr alongside to distinguish them. For each column all the debit entries are totalled
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and all the credit entries are totalled separately. The surplus of debits over credits (or
credits over debits) is calculated and shown in the final line. This allows a summarised
list to be prepared as shown in Table 3.11.

A spreadsheet is useful where there are not too many entries, but ledger accounts
become essential when the volume of information increases.

Table 3.11
Summary of debit and credit entries for each category of asset, liability and
ownership interest

Debit Credit
£ £

Assets
Land and buildings 250,000
Office furniture 30,000
Trade receivables (debtors) 1,200
Prepayment 540
Cash at bank 15,280
Liabilities
Trade payables (creditors) 2,800
Long-term loan 150,000
Ownership interest
Revenue 8,820
Expenses 4,600
Capital contributed 140,000
Totals 301,620 301,620

Note: The totals of each column have no particular meaning, but they should always
be equal because of the symmetry of the debit and credit records, and so are useful as
an arithmetic check that no item has been omitted or recorded incorrectly.

Turning the spreadsheet back to a vertical listing, using the debit column for items
where the debits exceed the credits, and using the credit column for items where
the credits exceed the debits, the list becomes as in Table 3.11. You will see that
this list is the basis of the information provided about P. Mason’s legal practice in
the main body of the chapter, except that the debit and credit notation was not used
there.

Activity 3.4 The most serious problem faced by most students, once they have understood the basic
approach, is that of making errors. Look back through this Supplement and think about
the errors which might have been made. What type of error would be detected by finding
totals in Table 3.11 which were not in agreement? What type of error would not be
detected in this way because the totals would be in agreement despite the error? Types
of error will be dealt with in the supplement to Chapter 5.
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B Test your understanding

S3.1 [S] Analyse the debit and credit aspect of each transaction listed at (a), (b) and (c) of
question B3.2.

S3.2 Prepare a spreadsheet similar to that presented in Table 3.10, setting out on the first
line the items contained in the list of assets and liabilities of question B3.2 and then on
lines 2, 3 and 4 adding in the transactions (a), (b) and (c). Calcula